

University of Kentucky UKnowledge

Theses and Dissertations--Pharmacy

College of Pharmacy

2012

MOLECULAR MECHANISMS OF THROMBOXANE A2 RECEPTOR-MEDIATED INVASION IN LUNG CANCER CELLS

Xiuling Li University of Kentucky, xlli2@uky.edu

Right click to open a feedback form in a new tab to let us know how this document benefits you.

Recommended Citation

Li, Xiuling, "MOLECULAR MECHANISMS OF THROMBOXANE A2 RECEPTOR-MEDIATED INVASION IN LUNG CANCER CELLS" (2012). *Theses and Dissertations--Pharmacy.* 6. https://uknowledge.uky.edu/pharmacy_etds/6

This Doctoral Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the College of Pharmacy at UKnowledge. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations--Pharmacy by an authorized administrator of UKnowledge. For more information, please contact UKnowledge@lsv.uky.edu.

STUDENT AGREEMENT:

I represent that my thesis or dissertation and abstract are my original work. Proper attribution has been given to all outside sources. I understand that I am solely responsible for obtaining any needed copyright permissions. I have obtained and attached hereto needed written permission statements(s) from the owner(s) of each third-party copyrighted matter to be included in my work, allowing electronic distribution (if such use is not permitted by the fair use doctrine).

I hereby grant to The University of Kentucky and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive and make accessible my work in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known. I agree that the document mentioned above may be made available immediately for worldwide access unless a preapproved embargo applies.

I retain all other ownership rights to the copyright of my work. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of my work. I understand that I am free to register the copyright to my work.

REVIEW, APPROVAL AND ACCEPTANCE

The document mentioned above has been reviewed and accepted by the student's advisor, on behalf of the advisory committee, and by the Director of Graduate Studies (DGS), on behalf of the program; we verify that this is the final, approved version of the student's dissertation including all changes required by the advisory committee. The undersigned agree to abide by the statements above.

Xiuling Li, Student Dr. Hsin-Hsiung Tai, Major Professor Dr. Jim Pauly, Director of Graduate Studies

MOLECULAR MECHANISMS OF THROMBOXANE A₂ RECEPTOR-MEDIATED INVASION IN LUNG CANCER CELLS

DISSERTATION

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the College of Pharmacy at the University of Kentucky

By

Xiuling Li

Lexington, Kentucky

Director: Dr. Hsin-Hsiung Tai, Professor of Pharmaceutical Sciences

Lexington, Kentucky

Copyright © Xiuling Li 2012

ABSTRACT OF DISSERTATION

MOLECULAR MECHANISMS OF THROMBOXANE A₂ RECEPTOR-MEDIATED INVASION IN LUNG CANCER CELLS

Thromboxane A_2 receptor (TP) has been shown to play important roles in multiple aspects of cancer development including regulation of tumor growth, survival and metastasis. Molecular mechanisms of TP mediated cancer cell invasion remain to be identified. TP agonist, I-BOP, significantly elevated several matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) including MMP-1, MMP-3, MMP-9 and MMP-10 in A549 human lung adenocarcinoma cells overexpressing TP α (A549-TP α) or TP β (A549-TP β). Signaling pathways of I-BOP-induced MMP-1 expression were examined in further detail as a model system for MMPs induction. Signaling molecules involved in I-BOP-induced MMP-1 expression were identified by using specific inhibitors including small interfering (si)-RNAs of signaling molecules and promoter reporter assay. The results indicate that I-BOP-induced MMP-1 expression is mediated by protein kinase C (PKC), extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK)-activator protein-1(AP-1) and ERK-CCAAT/enhancerbinding protein β (C/EBPβ) pathways. I-BOP-induced cellular invasiveness of A549-TPα cells was blocked by, GM6001, a general inhibitor of MMPs. Knockdown of MMP-1 and MMP-9 by their respective siRNA partially reduced I-BOP-stimulated A549-TPa cells invasion suggesting that other MMPs induced by I-BOP were also involved.

Furthermore, secreted MMP-1 in conditioned media from I-BOP-treated A549-TPα cells (CM-I-BOP) autocrinely induced monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1) expression. The induction of MCP-1 by MMP-1 in A549 cells was via activation of protease-activated receptor 2 (PAR2) instead of commonly assumed PAR1. This conclusion was reached from the following findings: (1) expression of MCP-1 induced by trypsin, a PAR2 agonist, was inhibited by a PAR2 antagonist. (2) expression of MCP-1 induced by MMP-1 and by CM-I-BOP was blocked by a PAR2 antagonist but not by other PAR antagonists; (3) expression of MCP-1 induced by MMP-1 and by CM-I-BOP was attenuated significantly by pretreatment of cells with PAR2-siRNA.

Finally, MCP-1 also can be induced by direct activation of TP in a SP1 involved mechanism. CM-I-BOP enhanced MCP-1-dependent migration of RAW 264.7

macrophages. Co-culture of A549 cells with RAW 264.7 macrophages induced expression of MMPs, VEGF and MCP-1 genes, and increased the invasive potential in A549 cells.

My studies provide molecular mechanisms by which TP-mediated cancer cell invasion and suggest that TP is a potential anti-cancer drug target.

Key words: Thromboxane A₂ Receptor, Invasion, Matrix Metalloproteinases, Monocyte Chemoattractant Protein-1, Protease-Activated Receptor

Xiuling Li

May 14, 2012

MOLECULAR MECHANISMS OF THROMBOXANE A2 RECEPTOR-MEDIATED INVASION IN LUNG CANCER CELLS

By

Xiuling Li

Dr. Hsin-Hsiung Tai Director of Dissertation

Dr. Jim Pauly Director of Graduate Studies

May 14, 2012

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my mentor Dr. Hsin-Hsiung Tai. He brought me into this field and encouraged me to pursue my Ph.D. studies, and he led me through this journey with his intellectual guidance, untiring inspiration, continuous support and everlasting patience.

I am very grateful to my advisory committee members, Dr. Kyung Kim, Dr. Todd Porter, and Dr. Rolf Craven for their advice, encouragement and help throughout my study. I would also like to thank Dr. Tianyan Gao for taking her valuable time to read my dissertation and serve on my dissertation committee as an outside examiner.

I wish to thank my colleague and good friend Ms. Min Tong for her unselfish help during my whole stay here.

My thanks also go to all my other friends. Their encouragement and friendship helped me make it this far.

Finally, I am truly thankful to my parents and my dear sister for their unconditional love and support through all these years.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSiii
LIST OF TABLESix
LIST OF FIGURES x
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONSxiii
1. Introduction
1.1 Thromboxane A ₂ (TXA ₂) and its biological function 1
1.1.1 Discovery of TXA ₂ and its biosynthesis1
1.1.2 Physiology and pathophysiology of TXA ₂
1.2 Thromboxane A ₂ receptor (TP) and its signal transduction
1.3 TXA ₂ signaling in cancer progression
1.3.1 Thromboxane A ₂ synthase (TXAS), TP and cancer prognosis
1.3.2 Mechanisms of TXA ₂ signaling in carcinogenesis9
1.3.2.1 Cell survive, proliferation and apoptosis
1.3.2.2 Cell migration, invasion and metastasis
1.3.2.3 Angiogenesis 12
1.4 Cancer invasion and metastasis
1.5 Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) in cancer invasion and metastasis 17
1.5.1 Association of COX -2 and MMPs in cancer invasion and metastasis
1.5.2 MMPs regulation
1.6 Protease-activated receptors (PARs) and cancer progression and invasion
1.6.1 PARs and their activation
1.6.2 PAR1 and cancer progression and invasion

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	1.6.3 PAR2 and cancer progression and invasion	22
	1.7 Monocyte chemoattractant protein 1(MCP-1) and cancer progression and	
	metastasis	24
	1.7.1 MCP-1 discovery	24
	1.7.2 MCP-1 regulation	24
	1.7.3 MCP-1/CCR2 expression and activity	25
	1.7.4 MCP-1 and cancer progression and metastasis	26
	1.7.4.1 Direct effects	26
	1.7.4.2 Indirect effects	27
	1.8 Tumor associated macrophages (TAMs) and cancer invasion	29
	1.8.1 TAMs as prognostic marker for human cancer	29
	1.8.2 TAMs enhance invasiveness of cancer cells	30
2.	Purpose of this dissertation	32
3.	Materials and methods	33
	3.1 Reagents and antibodies	33
	3.2 Cell lines and culture	34
	3.2.1 Wild-type cell lines	34
	3.2.2 Establishment of A549-TP α and A549-TP β cell lines	35
	3.3 Cell treatment and Western blot analysis	35
	3.4 Protein precipitation	36
	3.5 Reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR)	36
	3.6 Zymographic assay	38
	3.7 Conditioned media and activation of MMPs	38

3.8 Transient transfection
3.9 Small interfering (si)-RNA treatment
3.10 Real-time PCR analysis of MCP-1 mRNA
3.11 Promoter constructs and site-directed mutagenesis
3.12 Luciferase assay
3.13 Preparation of nuclear extract
3.14 Macrophage migration assay 42
3.15 Co-culture experiments
3.16 Invasion assay
3.17 Statistical analysis
4. Results
4.1 Overexpression of TP increases invasion of human lung cancer cell A549 45
4.1.1 Ectopic expression of TP α and TP β in A549 cells by lentiviral approach 45
4.1.2 TP agonist induces decreases in E-cadherin levels in A549-TP α and TP β cells
4.1.3 TP agonist induces morphological changes of A549-TP α and TP β cells 48
4.1.4 TP agonist induces invasion of A549-TP α and TP β cells
4.2 Increased expression of MMPs mediates TP agonist-induced invasion in A549-
TPα cells
4.2.1 Induction of MMPs expression by TP agonist in both A549-TP α and TP β
cells
4.2.2 Upregulation of MMP-1 is dependent on PKC and MAPK/ERK signaling 56
4.2.3 AP-1 as a downstream signal of PKC and MAPK/ERK pathways 58

4.2.4 C/EBPβ contributes to I-BOP-induced MMP-1 expression
4.2.5 Elevated MMPs promote TP-mediated cell invasion
4.3 MMP-1 released by activation of TP induces expression of MCP-1 from lung
cancer cells by activation of PAR2
4.3.1 Conditioned media from TP agonist-treated A549-TP α cells induces the
release of MCP-1 from A549 cells
4.3.2 MMP-1 mediates the release of MCP-1 by conditioned media from TP
agonist-treated A549-TPα cells75
4.3.3 MMP-1-induced MCP-1 release is PAR2 dependent
4.4 Activation of TP increases MCP-1 expression and recruits macrophages to
promote invasion of lung cancer cells
4.4.1 Induction of MCP-1 expression by activation of TP
4.4.2 SP1 is important for TPα-mediated MCP-1 expression
4.4.3 TP agonist-induced MCP-1 exhibits chemotactic effects on macrophages 97
4.4.4 Co-culture of RAW 264.7 macrophages induces expression of metastatic
genes by A549 cells
4.4.5 Co-culture of RAW 264.7 macrophages induces morphological changes and
invasion of A549 cells104
5. Discussion
5.1 Increased expression of MMPs mediates TP agonist-induced invasion in A549-
TPα cells
5.2 MMP-1-mediated release of MCP-1 by conditioned media from TP agonist-treated
A549-TPα cells is through activation of PAR2

5.3 Activation of TP increases MCP-1 expression and recruits macrophages to	
promote invasion of lung cancer cells	114
6. Summary and conclusions	120
7. References	122
VITA	154

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Primers used for RT-PCR	37
Table 2. Primers used for real-time PCR	40
Table 3. Primers used for generation of site-directed mutagenesis	41

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Schematic presentation of thromboxane A ₂ synthesis
Figure 2. Structures of thromboxane A_2 receptor α and β proteins
Figure 3. Structures of thromboxane A ₂ receptor agonists and antagonist
Figure 4. G protein coupling of thromboxane A ₂ receptor and signal transduction7
Figure 5. The metastatic cascade 14
Figure 6. Cancer cell invasion process
Figure 7. Mechanism of activation of proteinase-activated receptors by proteinases 21
Figure 8. Transcription factors in MCP-1 promoter
Figure 9. Mechanisms of MCP-1 on cancer progression
Figure 10. Characterization of A549-TPα and A549-TPβ cells
Figure 11. Effects of TP activation on E-cadherin expression
Figure 12. Effects of TP activation on cell morphological changes
Figure 13. Effects of TP activation on cell invasion
Figure 14. Effects of I-BOP on MMPs expression and activity
Figure 15. Effects of I-BOP on MMP-1 expression 53
Figure 16. Effects of different inhibitors on I-BOP-induced MMP-1 expression 57
Figure 17. AP-1 is a downstream signal of PKC and MAPK/ERK pathways 60
Figure 18. C/EBPβ contributes to I-BOP-induced MMP-1 expression
Figure 19. Elevated MMPs promote I-BOP-induced cell invasion
Figure 20. CM-I-BOP induces release of MCP-1 from A549 cells
Figure 21. MMP-1 mediates CM-I-BOP-induced MCP-1 from A549 cells
Figure 22. PAR2 antagonist blocks MMP-1-induced MCP-1 release from A549 cells 80

Figure 23. PAR-APs induce MCP-1 release from A549 cells
Figure 24. PARs antagonists block PARs agonists-induced MCP-1 release from A549
cells
Figure 25. MMP-1 and PAR2-AP induce the transcription of MCP-1
Figure 26. PAR2 antagonist blocks CM-I-BOP-induced MCP-1 release from A549 cells
Figure 27. PAR2 siRNA suppresses MMP-1 and CM-I-BOP-induced MCP-1 release
from A549 cells
Figure 28. Effects of I-BOP on MCP-1 expression in A549-TPα cells
Figure 29. I-BOP-induced MCP-1 protein expression in H157 and H460 cells
Figure 30. Comparison of I-BOP with other prostanoids on the induction of MCP-1 in
A549-TPα and H460 cells
Figure 31. Effects of TP antagonist and several protein kinases inhibitors on I-BOP-
induced MCP-1 expression
Figure 32. Effects of SP1 inhibition on I-BOP-induced MCP-1 expression at protein
levels
Figure 33. Effects of SP1 inhibition on I-BOP-induced MCP-1 expression at mRNA
levels
Figure 34. SP1 protein levels are increased in the nuclei of A549-TP α cells following I-
BOP stimulation
Figure 35. Regulation of MCP-1 promoter activity by SP1
Figure 36. Effects of A549-TP α conditioned medium on the migration of RAW 264.7
macrophages

gure 37. Diagram of a transwell co-culture system	0
gure 38. Transwell co-culture of RAW 264.7 macrophages induces morphological	
changes of A549 cells 10)1
gure 39. Co-culture of macrophages induces metastatic gene expression by A549 cells	
	12
gure 40. Co-culture of macrophages decreases E-cadherin expression by A549 cells 10	13
gure 41. Diagram of a direct co-culture system10)5
gure 42. Direct co-culture of macrophages induces morphological changes of A549	
cells)5
gure 43. Co-culture of macrophages induces invasion of A549 cells 10)6
gure 44. Proposed pathways of TP-mediated MMP-1 expression	.1
gure 45. Illustration of a tentative mechanism for TP-mediated invasion of cancer cells	3
	9

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

- A549-TP α = A549 cells stably overexpressing TP α receptor
- A549-TP β = A549 cells stably overexpressing TP β receptor
- AA = arachidonic acid
- AC = adenylyl cyclase
- AP-1 = activator protein-1
- APRIL = a proliferation-inducing ligand
- bFGF = basic fibroblast growth factor
- $C/EBP\beta = CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein \beta$
- CM-I-BOP = conditioned media from I-BOP-treated A549-TP α cells
- COX1/2= cyclooxygenase 1 or 2
- CSF1= colony-stimulating factor 1
- CSF2= colony-stimulating factor 2
- CTGF= connective tissue growth factor
- CXCL1= Chemokine (C-X-C motif) ligand 1
- Cyr61= Cysteine-rich, angiogenic inducer, 61
- DAG = diacylglycerol
- DMEM = Dulbecco modified Eagle's medium
- ECM = extracellular matrix
- EGFR= epidermal growth factor receptor
- EMT = epithelial-mesenchymal transition
- ERK = extracellular signal-regulated kinase
- GAPDH = glyceraldehydes-3-phosphate dehydrogenase
- GPCR = G-protein coupled receptor

HB-EGF = heparin-binding epidermal growth factor

- IFN- γ = interferon gamma
- IGF-1 = insulin-like growth factor1
- IL-6 = interleukin-6
- IL-8= Interleukin 8
- MAPK = mitogen-activated protein kinase
- MCP-1= monocyte chemoattractant protein-1
- MMP = matrix metalloproteinase
- $NF-\kappa B = Nuclear factor-kappaB$

NK = nature killer

- NSCLC = non-small cell lung cancer
- PDGF = platelet-derived growth factor
- PKA = protein kinase A, cAMP dependent protein kinase
- PKC = protein kinase C, calcium dependent protein kinase
- PLC = phospholipase C
- PVDF = polyvinylidene fluoride
- $PGDS = prostaglandin D_2$ synthase
- $PGES = prostaglandin E_2$ synthase
- $PGF_{2\alpha}$ S= prostaglandin $F_{2\alpha}$ synthase
- $PGIS = prostaglandin I_2$ synthase
- PI-3K = phosphoinositide-3-kinase
- RT-PCR = reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction
- SAPK/JNK = stress-activated protein kinase/c-Jun N-terminal kinase

SDS-PAGE = sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis

- siRNA = small interfering RNA
- TCA = trichloroacetic acid
- TAM = tumor associated macrophage
- $TNF\alpha$ = tumor necrosis factor alpha
- $TP = thromboxane A_2 receptor$
- $TXA_2 = thromboxane A_2$
- TXAS = thromboxane synthase
- PAR= protease-activated receptor
- VEGF= vascular endothelial growth factor

1. Introduction

1.1 Thromboxane A₂ (TXA₂) and its biological function

1.1.1 Discovery of TXA₂ and its biosynthesis

Thromboxane A_2 (TXA₂) was originally discovered by Piper and Vane as a rabbit aorta contracting substance (RCS) in 1969 [1]. The release of RCS was reduced by steroidal and non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs suggesting the association of RCS with prostaglandins [2]. In 1975, Hamberg *et al.* reported that RCS actually was TXA₂ derived from arachidonic acid (AA) and prostaglandin G₂ (PGG₂) [3]. Because TXA₂ has a very short half-life of only 34 seconds in aqueous solution, they proposed a chemical structure of TXA₂ from indirect experiments by trapping it with nucleophiles such as CH₃O-. This structure was finally confirmed by Bhagwat *et al.* in 1985 [4].

TXA₂ is one of the five primary prostanoids generated from AA through cyclooxygenase (COX) pathway. The biosynthesis of TXA₂ and other prostaglandins involves three sequential steps (Figure 1):

- (1) Release of AA from cell membrane phospholipids by phospholipase A_2 (PLA₂).
- (2) Conversion of AA to prostaglandin H_2 (PGH₂) by COX-1 and COX-2.
- (3) Isomerization of PGH₂ to TXA₂ and other PGs by their specific synthases or isomerases.

The second step is believed to be the rate-limiting step for generation of TXA_2 and other PGs. Two isoforms of COX have been described. COX-1 is constitutively expressed and is involved in normal physiological functions, such as platelet aggregation, gastric mucosa protection and renal functions, whereas, COX-2 is an inducible isoform

associated with pathological functions such as inflammation, cardiovascular disease and cancer.

The enzyme converted PGH_2 to TXA_2 is thromboxane A_2 synthase (TXAS), which was first found in platelet microsomes [5], then was reported to express in many other tissues such as lung, platelets, kidney, stomach, duodenum, colon and spleen [6, 7].

As mentioned above, TXA_2 is very unstable and rapidly, non-enzymatically degraded into a stable but inactive thromboxane B_2 (TXB_2) form.



Figure 1. Schematic presentation of thromboxane A₂ synthesis

PLA₂ catalyzes phospholipids to form anachidonic acid (AA). Then AA is metabolized by COX-1 and COX-2 to form prostaglandin H_2 (PGH₂), which is converted into PGs by specific synthases.

1.1.2 Physiology and pathophysiology of TXA₂

TXA₂ has a broad range of bioactivities. It induces vascular smooth muscles contraction, revealing its contribution to hypertension. It also causes contraction of bronchial smooth muscles, which may result in asthma. TXA₂ is a potent platelet activator, leading to platelet shape change, secretion and aggregation, thus promoting thrombus formation and thrombosis. In addition, it has been shown that TXA₂ stimulates the proliferation of several types of cells including oligodendrocytes [8], smooth muscle cells [9] and lung cancer cells [10]. Moreover, TXA₂ is implicated to be involved in allergies, inflammation, acquired immunity modulation, atherogenesis, angiogenesis, and metastasis of cancer [11].

1.2 Thromboxane A₂ receptor (TP) and its signal transduction

TXA₂ exerts its biological activities through its cell surface receptor, the Tprostanoid (TP) receptor. TP is widely distributed in many tissues and organs, including brain, eye, thymus, heart, lung, aorta, liver, uterus, intestine, kidney, placenta, and platelets [11]. TP belongs to G-protein-coupled-receptor (GPCR) superfamily and is expressed as two isoforms in human, named TP α and TP β . These TP isoforms arise from a single gene via alternative splicing of mRNA and share the first 328 amino acids, but differ in their C-terminal tails with TP β longer than TP α (Figure 2) [12]. The ligand binding domain of TP resides mainly in the extracellular region of the protein, therefore no differences were observed in the ligand binding between TP α and TP β , whereas there are some variances in the G-protein coupling of these two isoforms. TP α is coupled to Gs and TP β is coupled to Gi.



Figure 2. Structures of thromboxane A_2 receptor α and β proteins

Due to the very unstable property of TXA₂, its mimetics instead of TXA₂ itself are used by researchers to study TP-mediated events. U46619 and I-BOP are two synthetic TP specific agonists and SQ29584 is a specific TP antagonist.



Figure 3. Structures of thromboxane A2 receptor agonists and antagonist

TP-mediated signal transduction is mostly achieved through activation of its coupled G proteins. Gq was the first found trimeric G protein coupled to TP to activate phospholiase C- β (PLC- β) [13], resulting in the accumulation of inositol triphosphate (IP3)/diacylglycerol (DAG), subsequent mobilization of intracellular calcium and activation of PKC. In addition to Gq, TP has been shown to be coupled with other G proteins, including G12 family G proteins (G12 and G13) [14], Gi [15], Gs [16] and Gh [17], thus activating multiple signaling pathways. G12 and G13 have been shown to

activate RhoGEF, following the activation of Rho-mediated signaling [18]. TP-mediated contraction of rat caudal arterial smooth muscle and migration of prostate cancer cells were reported to depend on RhoA/ROCK pathway [19, 20]. Both Gi and Gs regulate cyclic AMP (cAMP) levels but in opposite directions. Gi inhibits adenylyl cyclase (AC), thus decreasing cAMP levels, and Gs stimulates AC, thus increasing cAMP levels. The activity of protein kinase A (PKA) is regulated by the levels of cAMP. It has been shown that TP α couples to Gs, TP β couples to Gi, and elevation of cAMP were observed in HEK or CHO cells expressing TP α but not TP β [21, 22]. Therefore, TP α and TP β may have distinct signal pathways to regulate cellular events. Using CHO cells stably expressing TP α or TP β , Miyosawa *et al.* found that TP α not TP β -mediated activation of the extracellular signal regulated kinase1/2 (ERK1/2) was dependent on PKA activation [23]. This contradicted with an earlier report that PKA was involved in ERK activation in both HEK cells stably expressing TP α or TP β [24]. This might be explained by the assumption that the levels of signaling molecules downstream of TP vary in different cell types [23]. Moreover, many studies indicated that TP-mediated signaling evens differ in different cell types and tissues [25]. Gh, which is a dimeric G protein, activates phospholipase C- δ (PLC- δ), subsequent production of IP3 and DAG, a similar response to that mediated by Gq. Although Gh couples to both TP α and TP β , only TP α -Gh association results in a PLC-dependent IP3 signaling [17]. Dissociated from G α subunit, the activated G $\beta\gamma$ can also mediate signaling transduction through activation of class I_B phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K) and ERK1/2. Although there is evidence that PI3K inhibitor blocked TP-mediated activation of ERK, $G\beta\gamma$ subunits did not seem to be involved in this regulation, suggesting the existence of other mechanisms than activating

G proteins for TP-mediated signal transduction. Further studies showed that TP α and TP β directly interact with PI3K class 1_A p85 adaptor subunit to regulate ERK1/2 activation [24]. Furthermore, activation of TP may transactivate epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) through a src-dependent mechanism, leading to the activation of ERK1/2 [24, 26]. Moreover, it was reported that 14-3-3 ζ as a scaffold protein to associate with TP and raf-1, therefore, mediates TP signal-regulated ERK1/2 activation [27]. G protein coupling of TP and signal transduction is summarized in Figure 4 [11].



Figure 4. G protein coupling of thromboxane A2 receptor and signal transduction

1.3 TXA₂ signaling in cancer progression

Early in 1981, TXA₂ has already been reported to stimulate melanoma tumor cells proliferation, suggesting its potential role in tumor progression [28]. Then, over the past three decades, more and more evidence indicated the important role of TXA₂ signaling in malignancy.

1.3.1 Thromboxane A₂ synthase (TXAS), TP and cancer prognosis

TXAS and TP are two main components of TXA₂ pathway, and both were observed to increase in tumor tissues from 46 patients with prostate cancer [29]. The levels of TXAS and TP were significantly associated with higher Gleason scores and pathologic stages of the tumors [29]. A large study employing 120 human breast tumor tissues found that TP was highly expressed in aggressive tumors (grade 3 and above) and linked with higher mortality and worse prognosis [30]. In addition, TXAS and TP were expressed at significantly higher levels in human colorectal carcinoma compared with normal tissues [31, 32]. Furthermore, Watson and his colleagues reported that the expression of TXAS was significantly elevated in invasive bladder cancer, and negatively correlated with patient survival. TP protein not mRNA expression was also increased in invasive bladder cancer tissues compared to paired normal tissues [33]. One following study from the same group further identified that it was the TP β isoform highly expressed in bladder cancer tissues and correlated well with poor prognosis for patients [34]. Moreover, high levels of TXB_2 , the stable nonenzymatic hydrolysis product of TXA_2 , were detected in lung cancer tissues compared to normal lung tissues, suggesting the increased TXAS activity in lung cancer [35]. More recently, Cathart et al. examined the expression profile of TXAS in non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) in 204 patients, and

confirmed that TXAS and TXB₂ were significantly higher in tumor tissues than the matched normal tissues [36]. Although TXAS was not a prognostic factor, this study indicated that TXAS could promote tumor progression and serve as a potential therapeutic target for treatment of NSCLC [36].

1.3.2 Mechanisms of TXA₂ signaling in carcinogenesis

To understand the mechanisms underlying the effects of TXA₂ signaling on cancer progression, both *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies were conducted by many researchers to investigate the role of TXA₂ pathway in cancer biology. The results showed that TXA₂ signaling can modulate cancer progression in many aspects including tumor cells proliferation, apoptosis, migration, invasion, angiogenesis and the metastatic process.

1.3.2.1 Cell survive, proliferation and apoptosis

TXA₂ has been found to contribute to survival, proliferation and growth of several types of cancer cells including lung cancer, colorectal cancer, brain cancer and bladder cancer cells. It was reported that in nude mice tumor xenograft model, tumors from A549 cells with ectopic TP α expression exhibited faster growth rate than those tumors from the control A549 cells [37]. Using another lung cancer cell line H157 which expressed endogenous TP, we identified that Nurr1 is a target gene of TXA₂ signaling. The expression of Nurr1 is critical for TP-mediated H157 cell proliferation [10]. Huang *et al.* recently reported that carcinogen 4-(methylnitrosamino)-1-(3-pyridyl)-1-butanone (NNK) increased the production of TXAS and TXA₂ *in vivo* and in lung cancer cells *in vitro*. The increased TXA₂ may subsequently activate CREB via PI3K/Akt and ERK pathways, thereby contributing to the NNK-induced survival and growth of lung cancer cells [38]. TXAS was found highly expressed in human colonic cancer cell lines.

Proliferation of these cells was inhibited by antisense oligonucleotide for TXAS as well as TP antagonists, indicating a critic role of TXA₂ in colon cancer growth [31]. Furegrelate, a specific TXAS inhibitor, significantly inhibited glioblastoma growth through inducing proapoptotic, antiproliferative, and anti-angiogenic effects. Further, the inhibition of TXAS also increased the sensitivity to conventional alkylation chemotherapy *in vivo* [39]. Moreover, TXAS inhibitors and TP antagonists-induced apoptosis and increased sensitivity to chemotherapeutic agents were also found in bladder cancers [34, 40].

1.3.2.2 Cell migration, invasion and metastasis

The most important difference between benign and malignant tumors is that the malignant tumors spread to other parts of the body through the lymphatic system or bloodstream (a process called metastasis), while benign tumors do not. Tumor cells migration and invasion are initial steps in metastasis. Within prostate cancer tissues, TXAS and TP were found highly expressed in the areas of perineural invasion which is a major mechanism by which tumor spread outside the prostate, indicating the involvement of TXA₂ signaling in metastasis of prostate cancer [29, 41]. Further studies showed that TXAS and TXA₂ signaling mediated migration and invasion in prostate cancer cells [20, 41]. The mechanism by which TXA₂ drives these processes is related to Rho signaling. TP is known to couple to G_{12} family of heterotrimeric G proteins ($G\alpha_{12}$ and $G\alpha_{13}$). Kelly *et al.* reported that expression of activated G_{12} and G_{13} promoted prostate cancer cells invasion through activation of the RhoA family of G proteins [42]. They further observed that inhibition of G_{12} signaling blocked TXA₂-induced invasion of prostate cancer cells suggesting the G_{12} -RhoA signaling is involved in TP-mediated cell invasion

[42]. Later, Nie and colleagues demonstrated that activation of TP regulated prostate cancer cell motility and cytoskeleton reorganization through inducing cell contraction via activation of RhoA [20]. A recent study revealed that in prostate cancer cells PC3 and LNCaP, both TPa and TPB constitutively interact with protein kinase C-related kinases (PRK1), which is a RhoA effector. Activation of TPs enhanced PRK1 activation and disruption of PRK1 impaired TP-mediated cell migration [43]. In addition to prostate cancer, expression levels of TXAS were highly elevated in selected migrationadvantaged glioma cells. TXAS inhibitors, dazmegrel and furegrelate, reduced the migration rate of these cells to the rate of the parental cells, suggesting TXAS may influence the motility of glioma cells [44]. Further, TXB_2 was detected in a wide range of glioma cell lines and the relative expression of which correlated with migration of these cell lines. Treatment with TXAS specific inhibitors resulted in decreased migration rate and intercellular adhesion, indicating TXA_2 signaling may represent a novel strategy for anti-invasive therapies for glial tumors [45]. As mentioned above, TXAS and TP especially TPβ were highly expressed in invasive bladder cancer tissues compared with their normal paired tissues and correlated with poor prognosis [33, 34]. Ectopic expression of TP β in normal bladder epithelial cell line significantly increased migration and invasion [34]. The mechanistic study revealed that TP receptor agonist stimulated bladder cancer cell migration through both β -arrestin 2 and $G\alpha_{12}$ signaling [34]. Moreover, TXAS was also implied to be involved in lung cancer metastasis since TXAS inhibitor significantly inhibited pulmonary metastasis in mice intravenously injected Lewis lung carcinoma [46].

1.3.2.3 Angiogenesis

In order to grow beyond a certain size and to metastasize, tumors need to recruit blood vessels to supply oxygen and nutrients. Angiogenesis is the growth of new blood vessels from the existing vasculature and is critical for tumor growth and progression. TXA₂ modulates angiogenesis at different levels.

The expression of TXAS was reported to positively correlate to the production of angiogenic factors, vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) in NSCLC [47], indicating TXA₂ may enhance angiogenesis, thereby accelerating cancer progression. It was demonstrated that TXA₂ induced expression of VEGF at both mRNA and protein levels in human lung cancer cells. Xenografts of A549-TP α cells increased tumor growth rate and vascularization in nude mice [37]. Similar results were also obtained from mice inoculated with C26-TXAS cells, which are colon adenocarcinoma cells overexpressing exogenous TXAS [48].

TXA₂ not only has an autocrine effect on tumor cells to release pro-angiogenic factors but also directly act on endothelial cells to promote angiogenesis. The proangiogenic factor bFGF and VEGF stimulated the release of TXA₂ from endothelial cells up to five-fold [46]. TXA₂ mimetic U46619 increased endothelial cells migration and the inhibitors of TXAS or antagonist of TP blocked bFGF-induced endothelial cells migration *in vitro* and angiogenesis *in vivo* [46, 49]. Furthermore, treatment of rat aortic explants with U46619 significantly enhanced vessel sprouting whereas treatment with TXA₂ inhibitors showed a significant decrease in vessel sprouting [50], which was not rescued by adding VEGF indicating the essential contribution of TXA₂ to angiogenesis.

There are numerous studies indicating the role of TXAS, TXA₂ and TP in cancer progression, and some mechanisms were also revealed in these studies. However, regarding the relationship between TXA₂ and cancer invasion and metastasis, most of these reports are focused on TXAS. As shown in Figure 1, prostaglandins and thromboxane synthetic pathways are complex and influenced by each other. Inhibition of TXAS will increase the production of other PGs which either as tumor suppressor (PGI₂) or promoter (PGE₂). Therefore the approach of inhibiting TXAS will result in other effects related with the generation of other PGs. In this dissertation, I used approaches that only interfere with TXA₂/TP and no other PGs pathways to identify the key components of TXA₂/TP signaling-promoted cancer invasion, and thus providing additional mechanisms for validating TP as a target of intervention to block cancer invasion and metastasis.

1.4 Cancer invasion and metastasis

Prevention of cancer metastasis is the major goal of cancer therapy as metastasis is account for 90% of death in patients with malignancy. The process that cancer cells break off from a primary tumor and spread to other parts of the body is metastasis. Metastasis is a very complicated process still not well understood. The classic view of cancer metastasis consists a complex succession of cell-biological events starting from epithelial cells in primary tumors: (1) invade locally into surrounding extracellular matrix (ECM) and the host stroma, (2) intravasate into blood and lymph vessels, (3) survive in the circulation and transport through the vasculature, (4) arrest in the capillary beds of distant organs, (5) extravasate from vessels into the parenchyma of distant tissues, (6) survive in the new microenvironment and establish micrometastases, and (7) proliferate within the organ parenchyma, therefore generating the metastatic colonization and clinically detectable macroscopic metastases (Figure 5) [51]. To complete all the metastatic processes, cancer cells have to overcome the physiological barriers in each step. This is regulated by molecular pathways operating within cancer cells and also the cooperation between stroma cells and cancer cells. Each step in the metastatic cascade can be rate limiting. Here, we only focus on the initial step of metastasis, local invasion.



Figure 5. The metastatic cascade

Invasion is a process that cancer cells break away from a primary tumor and enter the surrounding tissues. During this process, cancer cells lose cell-cell adhesion, acquire a migratory phenotype, penetrate the basement membrane, and invade the interstitial matrix (Figure 6) [52].

Most solid tumors are derived from epithelial cells which are closely attached to each other to form a rigid cell sheets. Cadherins, a family of intercellular adhesion molecules, play important roles in keeping cells together. E-cadherin, one subtype in this family, has been demonstrated to play a crucial role in epithelial cell-cell adhesion. It has been implicated in carcinogenesis due to its partially or entirely missing in human epithelial cancers [53]. Loss of E-cadherin resulting in tumor cells invasion has been shown in E-cadherin knockout mouse models [54]. Indeed, repression of E-cadherin is a critical molecular feature of epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT), which is a biological program defined by the loss of epithelial characteristics and the acquisition of a mesenchymal phenotype. Cells that have undergone EMT often disassemble their adherens junctions, lose polarity, acquire spindle-shaped morphology, enhance migration, induce mesenchymal proteins, as well as various proteinases. Therefore, EMT is a critical early event in cancer invasion and metastasis [55].



Figure 6. Cancer cell invasion process

At the onset of invasion process, cancer cells lose E-cadherin-dependent cell-cell adhesion, acquire a migratory phenotype, penetrate the basement membrane, and invade the interstitial matrix.

Loss of adhesion enables cells to move, whereas loss of the basement membrane ultimately allows the invasion of cancer cells into the stromal compartment. Basement membrane is a thin ECM layer which separates the epithelium from the interstitial stroma. In addition to the structural function, basement membrane also plays an important role in signal transduction through integrin-mediated cell-marix interaction, leading to the alterations in cell polarity, proliferation, survival, invasion and metastasis[52]. To breach the basement membrane and invade the interstitial matrix cancer cells release a variety of proteolytic enzymes such as collagenases, cathepsins, and plasminogen activators. Among these enzymes, matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) play major roles in proteolytic degradation of basement membrane and ECM remodeling due to their ability to degrade a multitude of substrates. MMPs also release growth factors sequestered in the ECM to stimulate cancer cell proliferation and angiogenesis [56, 57].

Once cancer cells have dissolved basement membrane, they invade the stroma where they encounter a variety of stromal cells including fibroblasts, endothelial cells, and various bone marrow-derived cells (BMDCs) such as myeloid cell-derived suppressor cells, mesenchymal stem cells, macrophages, as well as other immune cells [58]. These stromal cells in tumor microenvironment secrete growth factors or proteases that further enhance tumor cells proliferation, invasion and metastasis. For example, tumor associated macrophages (TAMs) produced EGF to activate EGFR signaling in the malignant epithelial cells, thereby enhancing their invasive potential [59]. Similarly, the expression of cathepsin and MMP-9 proteases by TAMs further augments carcinoma cells invasion [60, 61]. More detailed background about TAMs and the roles they played in cancer invasion will be introduced later.

1.5 Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) in cancer invasion and metastasis

As mentioned above, MMPs are the major players in degrading basement membrane and ECM, the physiological barriers that must be overcome by cancer cells for successful invasion and metastasis. MMPs are a family of zinc-dependent proteases which contain 24 members in human, and collectively, they are capable of degrading all known ECM components. Elevation of MMPs has been found in various cancer types and considered as biomarkers for poor prognosis [62]. Therefore, understanding molecular pathways leading to upregulation of MMPs in cancer is important for the treatment of cancer invasion and metastasis.
1.5.1 Association of COX -2 and MMPs in cancer invasion and metastasis

COX-2, the key enzyme in TXA₂ synthetic pathway, was found to be associated with MMPs expression to increase metastasis of several types of cancer. Byun *et al.* reported that there was a positive correlation between COX-2 and MMP-2 expression, and the latter might contribute to cancer progression and reduced survival in NSCLC patients [63]. COX-2 inhibitor blocked liver metastasis of colorectal cancer cells due to suppression of MMP-9 activity [64]. Moreover, inhibition of COX-2 decreased invasion and metastasis in breast cancer via decrease in multiple MMPs [65]. In light of these findings, no reports were found to describe the relationship between TP and MMPs in cancer progression. Since TXA₂ is one of the major prostanoids downstream of COX-2 pathway, it is proposed that TXA₂ may also mediate cancer cell invasion through upregulation of MMPs.

MMP-1, the first member of MMPs family to be identified, was found to be associated with poor prognosis in a wide variety of advanced cancers including lung cancer [66, 67]. Low levels of both MMP-1 and COX-2 were positively correlated with survival in NSCLC [68]. Most recently, protease-activated receptor 1(PAR1) was identified as a novel substrate for MMP-1[69]. MMP-1/PAR1 axis has been shown to mediate invasion of breast cancer and melanoma cells [69, 70] providing further evidence for the role of MMP-1 in cancer invasion and metastasis.

In this dissertation, I mainly focused on the role of MMP-1 in TP-mediated cancer cell invasion, and further to identify the signaling pathways involved in TP-mediated MMP-1 expression which serve as a model for TP-mediated regulation of other MMPs.

1.5.2 MMPs regulation

MMPs are synthesized as pro-zymogens which are either secreted into extracellular space or in membrane-bound form. MMPs activity can be regulated at multiple levels such as activation by cell surface proteins [71] and inhibition by tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMPs) [72]. However, aberrantly high expression of MMPs has major impact on ECM turnover, thereby contributing to the pathology of diverse diseases including cancer, and this is predominantly controlled at the levels of MMPs gene expression.

Based on the compositions of cis-acting elements in their promoters, MMPs have been roughly grouped into three categories [73]. Group 1 consists of the majority of the MMPs: MMP-1, 3, 7, 9, 10, 12, 13 and 19 which contain a TATA box and an AP-1 site in the proximal region of their promoters. Group 2 consists of MMP-8 and MMP-11, which contain a TATA box but lack the AP-1 site. Group 3 consists of MMP-2 and MMP-14 which lack both the TATA box and the AP-1 site. This classification indicates the types of extracellular signaling that activate them.

Indeed, a variety of signal transduction pathways are involved in MMPs gene regulation [74]. The mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathways including ERK pathway as well as the p38 MAPK and c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) pathways regulate expression of several MMPs genes such as MMP-1[75-77], MMP-3[78, 79], MMP-9 [80, 81] and MMP-13[82]. Nuclear factor-kappaB (NF-κB) pathway can impact MMPs gene expression through direct transactivation or induction of intermediary genes. For example, RelA, A subfamily of NF-κB proteins, may activate NF-κB co-factor Bcl-3 expression [83], and that Bcl-3 in turn activates MMP-1 gene expression [84]. MMP-9

promoter contains a canonical NF- κ B binding site that could directly bind RelA to activate gene transcription [85]. Other signaling pathways such as Smad and STAT regulate MMPs gene expression via interaction with other transcription factors. Smad3 interacted with JunB and Runx-2 for TGF- β -induced MMP-13 expression is an example of this mechanism [86]. STAT3 does not directly bind the MMP-1 promoter, but it can augment MMP-1 transcription through induction of AP-1 proteins such as c-fos [87]. In contrast to STAT3, STAT1 mediates interferon (INF)- γ -repressed IL-1 β induction of MMP-13 via sequestration of the transcriptional co-activator CBP/p300 [88]. In summary, MMPs gene regulation is a complex process which involves the integration of multiple signaling pathways and transcriptional factors.

1.6 Protease-activated receptors (PARs) and cancer progression and invasion

1.6.1 PARs and their activation

Protease-activated receptor (PAR) is a unique family of GPCR, which consists of four members: PAR1, PAR2, PAR3 and PAR4. Each PAR carries its own ligand, which is in a masked state until exposed by receptor cleavage. The exposed ligand binds intramolecularly to the receptor to trigger multiple signaling cascades. A certain proteases can activate PARs. Thrombin can cleave and activate PAR1, PAR3 and PAR4. PAR2 is cleaved by trypsin, mast cell tryptase, tissue factor/factor VIIa/factor Xa but not by thrombin. Small synthetic peptides corresponding to the tethered ligand domain are developed as PAR agonist peptides (PAR-APs), which activate PARs without receptor cleavage [89, 90] (Figure 7).

PARs mediate a wide variety of physiological and pathophysiological responses including coagulation, inflammatory responses, repair, mucosal protection, neurogenic inflammation and pain transmission, etc. The role of PARs in cancer progression has also been revealed [91].



Figure 7. Mechanism of activation of proteinase-activated receptors by proteinases

Four members of the family: PAR1, PAR2, PAR3 and PAR4, proteinases responsible for PARs activation (in blue) and tethered ligand peptidic sequences (red boxes) that can be used to activate each receptor.

1.6.2 PAR1 and cancer progression and invasion

PAR1 is overexpressed in a wide range of cancers, such as melanoma, high-grade gliomas, colon cancer, prostate cancer and invasive breast cancer. The contributions of PAR1 to cancer invasion and metastasis have been demonstrated in many studies. Even-Ram *et al.* showed a direct correlation between the levels of PAR1 expression and the degree of invasiveness in established breast cancer cell lines as well as in human breast tissue specimens [92]. Transfection of functional PAR1 is sufficient to promote the invasion of MCF-7 cells, which are normally noninvasive breast carcinoma cells without PAR1 expression, both in vitro and in a xenograft nude mouse model [69]. In addition, antisense of PAR1 reduced the invasiveness of aggressively metastatic breast cancer cells [69, 92].

Recently, the identification of novel PAR1 activating protease, MMP-1, connects the extracellular proteolytic activity with membrane receptor-mediated signal in cancer progression. MMP-1/PAR1 axis has been identified to mediate invasion and metastasis of breast cancer [69, 93], melanoma [70] and ovarian cancer [94, 95]. Whether MMP1 targets other PARs or other MMPs cleave PARs remains open for further investigation.

1.6.3 PAR2 and cancer progression and invasion

PAR2 is another dominant PAR mediating protease signaling in tumor cells. Factor VIIa and Xa-induced migration and invasion of invasive breast cancer cells is mediated by PAR2 [96, 97]. Using mouse mammary tumor virus-polyoma middle T (PyMT) mouse model which mimics important aspects of human breast cancer pathology, Versteeg *et al.* demonstrated that PAR2, not PAR1, plays a critical role for spontaneous breast cancer development [98].

PAR2 promotes cancer progression through various mechanisms. Activation of PAR2 induces proliferation of gastric and colon cancer cells through trans-activation of EGFR and ERK1/2 activation mechanisms [99, 100]. PAR2 mediates migration of breast cancer cells through β-arrestin-dependent ERK1/2 activation [101]. TF-VIIa-PAR2 signaling in breast cancer cells induced a broad array of pro-angiogenic factors and immune regulators such as VEGF [102], Cyr61, VEGF-C, CTGF, CXCL1, IL-8, CSF1 and CSF2 [103]. Upregulation of IL-8 by TF-VIIa-PAR2 signaling resulted in breast cancer cell migration and invasion [97]. PAR2 agonist-triggered IL-8 release may also promote pancreatic cancer progression [104].

Since PARs participate in regulation of inflammatory cytokines and related genes, which are important for cancer progression. The question that whether PARs signaling could recruit inflammatory cells, such as monocyte/macrophages, neutrophils, and T cells to modulate cancer growth and metastasis needs to be addressed. PAR1-mediated production of chemokine monocyte chemoattractant protein 1(MCP-1) is critical for natural killer cells and macrophages recruitments in a mouse heart-to-rat transplant model [105]. Activation of PAR1or PAR2 induces MCP-1 expression was also reported in human lung carcinoma cell line A549 [106]. These studies suggest that MCP-1 may link PARs and inflammatory cells in caner progression. **1.7** Monocyte chemoattractant protein 1(MCP-1) and cancer progression and metastasis

1.7.1 MCP-1 discovery

MCP-1(nomenclature name is chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 2, CCL2; alternative name are MCAF, JE, SMC-CF, HC-11) is a small cytokine belonging to CC chemokine family. MCP-1 was initially discovered as the product of the JE gene from murine fibroblasts treated with PDGF [107, 108]. Human MCP-1 protein was isolated and purified by two groups in 1989 [109-111], they identified this novel cytokine as the product of human JE gene [112, 113]. Human MCP-1 is produced as a protein precursor which contains a 23 amino acid of signal peptide. The mature MCP-1 comprises 76 amino acids corresponding for a predicted molecular weight of 8.7 kDa. However, SDS-PAGE analysis showed that MCP-1 secreted by human cells migrated as 13 and 15 kDa proteins [110]. This may be due to the post-translational modification of MCP-1with O-linked carbohydrate processing [114]. Nearly half of murine MCP-1 protein displays a molecular weight of 30-35 kDa due to high glycosylation.

1.7.2 MCP-1 regulation

MCP-1 is a small inducible chemokine encoded by CCL2 gene, which located on human chromosome 17. A variety of cytokines, such as platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) [115], tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF α) [116], interferon gamma (IFN- γ) [117], and IL-1 β [118, 119] can induce MCP-1 expression at transcriptional level.

Several cis-acting transcription regulatory elements binding sites on MCP-1 promoter have been mapped (Figure 8). The distal part of MCP-1 promoter contains two NF- κ B binding sites, which are required for TNF α -induced MCP-1 expression, but not

essential for PDGF-stimulated expression [115]. The proximal part of MCP-1 promoter is essential for all aspects of MCP-1 gene regulation and is sufficient for PDGF- and INF- γ induced expression [115, 117]. The proximal region contains a GC box, which binds transcription factor SP1 to regulate both constitutive and stimulus-induced transcriptional activity. Two AP-1 and one NF- κ B sites also sit in the proximal region. They are responsible for endothelin-1-mediated MCP-1 regulation in human airway smooth muscle cells [120].



1.7.3 MCP-1/CCR2 expression and activity

MCP-1 is expressed by many cell types and organs either constitutively or after stimulation by cytokines or growth factors. Both *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies demonstrated that MCP-1 is a potent chemoattractant for monocytes, T lymphocytes, nature killer (NK) cells, basophils, and dendritic cells [121]. MCP-1 exerts its effects through its receptor CCR2. There are two isoforms of CCR2, named CCR2A and CCR2B, which differ only in their C-terminal tails. CCR2 expression is not as broad as MCP-1. CCR2A mainly expresses by mononuclear cells and vascular smooth muscle cells. CCR2B is the predominant isoform expressed by monocytes and activated NK cells. MCP-1 is very specific and binds only to CCR2 with a high binding affinity (Kd < 1nM). The other MCPs (MCP-2, MCP-3, and MCP-4 in human, MCP-2, MCP-3, and MCP-5 in mouse) also bind CCR2 with high affinity leading to the uncertainty of whether MCP-1 is essential in recruitment of monocytes *in vivo*. A study using MCP-1-deficient mice showed that loss of MCP-1 alone is sufficient for impairment of monocyte trafficking *in vivo* and other MCPs do not increase to compensate for MCP-1's absence [122] suggesting the critical role of MCP-1 in monocytes recruitment.

1.7.4 MCP-1 and cancer progression and metastasis

MCP-1 is expressed by a variety of cancer types suggesting its role in cancer progression. MCP-1 promotes tumorigenesis and metastasis through two mechanisms: (1) directly acts on tumor cells to influence cancer behavior, and (2) indirectly acts on tumor microenvironment by recruiting macrophage to tumor cells, therefore promoting tumor growth, angiogenesis and metastasis.

1.7.4.1 Direct effects

Direct effects of MCP-1on tumor cell physiology have been demonstrated in prostate cancer cells. Both MCP-1 and CCR2 were found to be expressed by prostate cancer cell lines, including LNCaP, C4-2B and PC3 cells. MCP-1 induces proliferation and invasion of PC3 and LNCaP cells in both autocrine and paracrine manners [123, 124]. Suppression of tumor- and host-derived MCP-1 by its neutralizing antibody attenuates prostate tumor growth and metastasis *in vivo* [124]. Moreover, CCR2 expression is correlated with the malignant state of prostate cancer. The more aggressive the cancer cells, the higher levels the CCR2 expression [125]. In addition to prostate cancer, MCP-1 also induces migration of breast cancer cell MCF-7 and malignant glioma cells *in vitro* [126, 127]. Multiple myeloma (MM) cells, malignant plasma cells in bone marrow, express a high level of CCR2 compared with normal plasma cells [128]. CCR2 mediates migration of MM cells to osteoclasts which generate high levels of MCP-1 and several other MCPs. Osteoclasts in turn produce various growth factors, such as insulin-like growth factor1 (IGF-1), interleukin-6 (IL-6) and a proliferation-inducing ligand (APRIL) to support MM cells survival, growth and drug resistance [129].

1.7.4.2 Indirect effects

A large body of research has indicated the indirect effects of MCP-1 on cancer progression. Actually, MCP-1 is originally isolated from tumor-derived chemoattractants [111] which mediate the infiltration of macrophage into tumors to either suppress or enhance tumor growth. MCP-1 associated with mononuclear cell infiltrate inhibiting tumor growth has been reported [130, 131]. However, the anti-tumor effect of MCP-1 is unlikely to be its major influence on tumor regulation based on the biological and epidemiological considerations [132].

There is growing evidence supported the notion that MCP-1-mediated macrophage infiltration promotes tumor progression. In a clinical study, the levels of MCP-1 in primary breast cancers were found to be correlated significantly with the accumulation of tumor associated macrophages (TAMs) [133], which are capable of affecting tumor progression in a variety of aspects. After 6 years of follow up, those breast cancer patients with high levels of MCP-1 had a significantly shorter relapse free survival. This clinical association might be explained by mechanistic studies using mouse model that MCP-1 secreted by breast tumor cells recruits inflammatory monocytes which produce VEGF to promote tumor cells extravasation and lung metastasis [134, 135]. MCP-1 was

reported to directly influence prostate cancer growth and metastasis [123]. It also can enhance prostate tumor growth and angiogenesis indirectly by recruitment of monocytes and TAMs into the tumor microenvironment [136]. Moreover, tumor cells derived from renal cancer recruit tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TIL) by secreting MCP-1 and IL-8, which suggests MCP-1's indirect effect on renal cancer progression [137]. CC chemokines including MCP-1 and MIP-1b were found to be associated with macrophage infiltration in human NSCLC tumors. Those patients with recurrence of disease had higher macrophage infiltration in their initial tumors [138]. In addition to tumor cells themselves, tumor associated stromal cells such as endothelial cells, fibroblasts and macrophages also produced a significant amount of MCP-1 to increase TAM infiltration and maintain inflammation, therefore promoting tumor progression [139, 140]. The two mechanisms of MCP-1 on caner progression is summarized in Figure 9 [132].



Figure 9. Mechanisms of MCP-1 on cancer progression

1.8 Tumor associated macrophages (TAMs) and cancer invasion

Solid tumors are comprised of not only malignant cells but also many other nonmalignant cell types including fibroblasts, endothelial cells, and immune cells such as neutrophils, dendritic cells, macrophages, eosinophils and mast cells [141, 142]. Macrophages are the most abundant immune infiltrates in tumors and these macrophages are termed as tumor associated macrophages (TAMs). TAMs are mostly derived from the peripheral blood monocytes and recruited by tumor cells secreted chemokines and growth factors such as CCL2 (MCP-1), CCL3, CCL4, CCL5, CSF-1 and VEGF [143, 144].

1.8.1 TAMs as prognostic marker for human cancer

A large body of clinical evidence showed that increased accumulation of TAMs are associated with poor prognosis for a variety of cancer types including prostate, breast, ovarian, cervical, bladder, endometrial, and esophageal cancers [133, 145-149]. For lung cancer, the data obtained from clinical studies seem controversial. Two groups reported that higher levels of macrophages were significantly correlated with lower survival rates for patients with NSCLC [138, 150]. However, the results reported by Toomey *et al.* showed that there was no association between macrophages infiltration and prognosis of NSCLC [151]. These conflicting observations may derive from the different methods used to assess macrophage infiltration, or the different tumor grades and stages in these studies. In addition, macrophages within different locations of tumor may have different effects on the outcome of patients. Welsh *et al.* found that the numbers of stroma macrophages were negatively associated with NSCLC patient's survival time, whereas the numbers of tumor islet macrophages were positively associated with patient's survival time [152]. Indeed, the impact of macrophages on tumor is more complicated.

Macrophages have been classified into two major groups: M1 and M2 macrophages. M1 macrophages possess pro-inflammatory properties, whereas M2 macrophages have antiinflammatory phenotype and promote tumor progression [153]. TAMs have been identified as M2 macrophages [154]. Within the tumor islet, both M1 and M2 macrophages could be present. Those macrophages associated with favorable outcome in NSCLC patients were identified as M1 macrophages [155]. M2 macrophages may function the opposite way. Zeni *et al.* [156] reported that the percentage of IL-10-positive macrophages within tumor islet was higher in patients with late stage of NSCLC and lymph node metastasis compared with those patients with lower stage of NSCLC and without metastasis, and these macrophages also predicted the worse overall survival rate. High expression of IL-10 is one of the characteristic of M2 phenotype [157], thus this study suggested that these macrophages behaved as M2-polarized TAMs, and thereafter promoted progression of NSCLC.

1.8.2 TAMs enhance invasiveness of cancer cells

TAMs promote cancer progression in many aspects, including stimulation of tumor growth, induction of angiogenesis, and promotion of tumor cells migration and invasion. TAMs enhancement of cancer cells invasion through several mechanisms. First, macrophages-derived proteases could disrupt the extracellular matrix, and therefore allow cancer cells to invade the surrounding tissues. For example, TAMs secreted cathepsin B, one of cysteine-type lysosomal proteases, to promote lung metastasis of breast cancer as well as the invasion of pancreatic tumor *in vivo* [60, 158]. Other proteases such as MMP-9 [61, 159] and urokinase-type plasminogen activator [160], a serine protease, are also secreted by TAMs, and both of them are involved in TAM-enhanced cancer cells

invasion. In addition to proteases, TAMs also produce growth factors such as EGF and TGFβ which directly act on carcinoma cells to promote their invasion [59, 161]. Furthermore, TAMs could increase invasion of cancer cells by inducing the epithelialmesenchymal transition (EMT). Lin *et al.* reported that activated macrophages may stimulate the migration and invasion of HepG2 human hepatocellular carcinoma cells via c-Src and EGFR-dependent downregulation of E-cadherin and β-catenin at the adherens junctions [162]. Moreover, TAMs interact with cancer cells to upregulate a wide array of genes in cancer cells, such as IL-6, NF- κ B, ICAM-1, MMP-1, MMP-9, VEGF-A, VEGF-C, etc. and these genes are involved in angiogenesis, growth, adhesion, invasion, and metastasis [163]. In return, macrophages could also be activated by cancer cells to secrete growth factors, cytokines and proteases, subsequently enhanced cancer invasion and progression [164, 165].

Copyright © Xiuling Li 2012

2. Purpose of this dissertation

TXA₂-TP signaling axis is involved in multiple steps of cancer progression including cancer invasion and metastasis. Therefore, the purpose of this dissertation is to identify novel cellular and molecular mechanisms by which TP mediates cancer cell invasion. I am particularly interested in identifying key molecular mediators associated with TP-mediated invasion of lung cancer cells and with specific focus on the investigation of TP-mediated signal transduction pathways leading to the expression of some of these molecules. Another purpose is to explore the interactions and relationship among these mediators and how they exert their functions in facilitating TP-mediated cancer cell invasion.

3. Materials and methods

3.1 Reagents and antibodies

I-BOP, SQ29548, PGD₂, PGE₂ and PGF_{2 α} were from Cayman Chemical (Ann Arbor, MI). LY294002, GF109203X and SP600125 were from Calbiochem (San Diego, CA). Phorbol-12-Myristate-13-Acetate (PMA), U0126, SB203580 and MG132 were from Alexis Biochemicals (San Diego, CA). SCH79797 was from Tocris Bioscience (Ellisville, MO). ENMD-1068 was from Enzo Life Sciences (Farmingdale, NY). Agonist peptides of PARs: PAR1, TFLLR-NH₂; PAR2, SLIGRL-NH₂; PAR3, TFRGAP-NH₂; PAR4, GYPGQV-NH₂, as well as antagonist peptide of PAR4, trans-cinnamoyl-YPGKF (tc-Y-NH₂) were supplied by Peptides International (Louisville, KY). Recombinant human MMP-1 and MMP-3 were purchased from PeproTech (Rocky Hill, NJ). MMP-1-siRNA, MMP-9-siRNA, C/EBPβ-siRNA, PAR2-siRNA and controlsiRNA were from Santa Cruz Biotechnology (Santa Cruz, CA). Cell culture medium, heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum (FBS), restriction enzymes, SuperScript II reverse transcriptase, penicillin G and Lipofectamine 2000 were supplied by Invitrogen or Gibco (Carlsbad, CA). TransIT-2020 Transfection Reagent was from Mirus Bio LLC (Madison, WI). Site-directed mutagenesis kit was from Stragene (La Jolla, CA). Centrifugal filter devices were purchased from Millipore (Billerica, MA). CytoSelect 96-well cell migration and invasion assay kits were supplied by Cell Biolabs (San Diego, CA). TRI Reagent, trypsin, soybean trypsin inhibitor, RS-102895, mithramycin A, geldanamycin and other biochemicals and chemicals were from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO). pcDNA3-MMP-9 expression plasmid was a kind gift of Dr. R. Fridman of the Wayne State University (Detroit, MI). All lentivirus related plasmids were kind gifts of Dr.

Louis Hersh of the University of Kentucky (Lexington, KY). Human MMP-1 promoter /luciferase reporter plasmids pGL3-2942 and pGL3-2942 Δ CEBP were kindly supplied by Dr. Matthew P. Vincent of Dartmouth Medical School (Hanover, NH). Human MCP-1-CAT reporter plasmid was kindly provided by Dr. Bassel E. Sawaya of Temple University (Philadelphia, PA).

The primary antibodies used in this study were MMP-1, MMP-3, MMP-9 (NeoMarkers, Fremont, CA), PAR-2, SP1, E-cadherin, Phospho-ERK1/2, C/EBPβ (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA), Phospho-c-Jun (Ser73), Phospho-C/EBPβ (Thr235), ERK1/2 (Cell Signaling Technology, Danvers, MA), MCP-1 (PeproTech, Rocky Hill, NJ), and glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) (generated in house). Horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-linked goat anti-mouse and rabbit secondary antibodies were supplied by Invitrogen (Carlsbad, CA).

3.2 Cell lines and culture

3.2.1 Wild-type cell lines

A549, H460 and H157 non-small cell lung cancer cells were maintained in RPMI 1640 medium. Mouse RAW 264.7 macrophages were cultured in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM). 293 FT cells were used for lentivirus production and maintained in DMEM supplemented with 0.1mM non-essential amino acids. All these cells lines were from American Type Culture Collection (Manassas, VA) and grown in their corresponding cell culture media with supplemented 10% FBS, 100 U/ml penicillin G and 0.1 mg/ml streptomycin at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere of 95% air and 5% CO2.

3.2.2 Establishment of A549-TPα and A549-TPβ cell lines

TPα and TPβ were cloned into pCSC-SP-PW lentiviral vector, transfected into 293 FT cells with packaging plasmids, pMDL-gp.RRE, pRSV.Rev and pVSVG using Lipofectamine 2000 following the manufacture's protocol. Similarly, GFP was cloned into pCSC-SP-PW vector and used as a control plasmid. The medium was replaced with fresh DMEM medium containing 10% FBS after 12 h transfection. Supernatants containing virus particles were collected 36 h after the start of transfection, filtered through 0.45 µm filter, and then were used to infect A549 cell line. A549 cells infected with virus particles encoding GFP, TPα or TPβ were harvested in three separate pools and designated as control A549 cells, A549-TPα and A549-TPβ cells accordingly. These infected cells were cultured until stably expressing the encoding genes. All these cells were maintained in RPMI1640 medium supplement with 10% FBS, 0.1 mg/mL streptomycin and 100U/mL of penicillin G at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere of 95% air and 5% CO₂.

3.3 Cell treatment and Western blot analysis

Cells were plated in 12-well plates to achieve ~ 80% confluence, and then were starved in RPMI 1640 medium without FBS for 24 h before stimulation. For inhibitor study, cells were pretreated with the respective inhibitors at working concentrations or control (0.1% DMSO) for 30 min in serum-free medium prior to stimulation. After a certain time of treatment, cells were collected and lysed with lysis buffer (50 mM *N*-2hydroxyethylpiperazine-*N*'-2-ethanesulfonic acid, pH 7.4, 150 mM NaCl, 1% Nonidet P-40, 5 mM NaF, 5 mM pyrophosphate, 1 mM sodium orthovanadate, 10 μg/ml aprotinin, 10 μg/ml leupeptin and 1 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride). Conditioned media were

collected and concentrated via trichloroacetic acid (TCA)-acetone method. Western blot analysis was carried out as described previously [166]. Briefly, proteins were separated in sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) and transferred onto polyvinylidene difluoride (PVDF) membrane. Membranes were blocked with 5% non-fat milk in Tris-buffered saline at room temperature for 1 h and incubated with primary antibodies overnight at 4°C. The membranes were then incubated with horseradish peroxidase-linked goat anti-mouse or rabbit secondary antibodies for 1 h at room temperature and developed using enhanced chemiluminescence Western blotting detection system (Amersham Pharmacia Biotech, Cardiff, UK). All membranes were stripped using stripping buffer before reprobing with anti-glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase or anti-ERK1/2 antibodies to ensure equal protein loading. Band intensities were quantified using NIH Image J software and normalized to those of GAPDH.

3.4 Protein precipitation

Proteins in media samples were precipitated by using trichloroacetic acid (TCA)acetone method. Briefly, TCA was added to media at a final concentration of 10%. Proteins were precipitated for 4 h on ice. Precipitated protein was centrifuged at 5,000 x g for 30 min, washed three times in cold acetone, and air dried. Pellets were frozen at -80°C until analyzed.

3.5 Reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR)

Total RNA was isolated from cells using the TRI Reagent and reverse-transcribed using the SuperScript II reverse transcriptase following the manufacturer's instructions. PCR conditions were 2 min at 95°C followed by 35 cycles (23 cycles for MCP-1 and β - actin) of 95°C for 1 min, 50-55°C for 30s, 72°C for 30s. The PCR product of each sample was analyzed by electrophoresis in a 1.5% agarose gel and visualized by ethidium bromide staining. The primers used in the PCR reactions are summarized in Table1.

NAME	SEQUENCE				
ΤΡα	5'-GAGATGATGGCTCAGCTCCT-3' (forward)				
	5'-CTACTGCAGCCCGGAGCG-3' (reverse)				
ΤΡβ	5'-CTCAGCTCCTGGGGGATCAT-3'(forward)				
	5'-GTCAAATTCAGGGTCAAAGAGCA-3'(reverse)				
MMD_1	5'-CATTGATGGCATCCAAGC-3'(forward)				
	5'-CCGGACTTCATCTCTGT-3'(reverse)				
MMD 2	5'-GTTAGGAGAAAGGACAGTGGTCCTG-3'(forward)				
MINIT-3	5'-GGCATAGGCATGGGCCAAAACATT-3'(reverse)				
MMD 0	5'-GGCGCTCATGTACCCTATGT-3'(forward)				
IVIIVIE-9	5'-TCAAAGACCGAGTCCAGCTT-3'(reverse)				
MMD 10	5'-GTCACTTCAGCTCCTTTCCT-3'(forward)				
	5'-ATCTTGCGAAAGGCGGAACT-3'(reverse)				
MMD 13	5'-AGTGGTAAGAATAGTAGATGTG-3' (forward)				
IVIIVIP-15	5'-GGCCGATCATATATTCAATAAGT-3' (reverse)				
MCP_1	5'-ATAGCAGCCACCTTCATTCC-3' (forward)				
MCI-I	5'-TTCCCCAAGTCTCTGTATCT-3' (reverse)				
VECE	5'-GGATGTCTATCAGCGCAGCTAC-3' (forward)				
VEUI	5'-TCACCGCCTCGGCTTGTCACATC-3' (reverse)				
ß aatin	5'-GGCATGGGTCAGAAGGATTCC-3'(forward)				
p-acun	5'-AGCACAGCCTGGATAGCAACG-3' (reverse)				

Table 1. Primers used for RT-PCR

3.6 Zymographic assay

Media samples were concentrated 20-fold using the centrifugal filter devices, then applied to 10% polyacrylamide gel containing 0.1% gelatin (detecting MMP-2, 9) or 12% polyacrylamide gel containing 0.1% casein (detecting MMP-1, 3). Samples were electrophoresed at 4°C under a non-reducing condition. The gel was washed with 2.5% Triton X-100 for 30 min twice at room temperature to remove the SDS and incubated in the developing buffer [100 mM Tris-HCl (pH 8.0), 5 mM CaCl₂, 0.05% 23 lauryl ether (Brij-35)] at 37°C for 36 h. Gelatinolytic and caseinolytic proteinase activities were revealed by coomassie blue staining.

3.7 Conditioned media and activation of MMPs

A549-TP α cells were plated into 10 cm dishes to achieve ~ 80% confluence next day, then media were switched to 10 ml serum-free RPMI1640. After 24 h starving, cells were treated with vehicle (0.1% ethanol) or 50 nM I-BOP for another 24 h. Then, conditioned media were collected and passed through 30 kDa and 10 kDa centrifugal filters sequentially to separate MMPs and MCP-1(MCP-1 molecular weight is 13-15 kDa). The remains on each filter were resolved in 1.5 mL serum-free medium and stored at -80°C until used. MMPs in conditioned media were activated using 10 µg/mL trypsin for 1 h at 37°C, followed by adding 40 µg/mL soybean trypsin inhibitor to neutralize the trypsin.

3.8 Transient transfection

A549-TPα cells were transfected with pcDNA3 or pcDNA3-MMP-9 expression plasmid using Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen) according to manufacturer's instruction. Media were collected for further use after transfection for 48 h.

3.9 Small interfering (si)-RNA treatment

A549-TPα cells were transiently transfected with control siRNA or C/EBPβ, MMP-1, MMP-9 siRNA at concentration of 50 nM using Lipofectamine 2000. Cells were treated with siRNA for 24 h prior to stimulation by 50 nM I-BOP for another 24 h. For PAR-2 knockdown experiment, control A549 cells were transiently transfected with control siRNA or PAR2-siRNA at concentration of 100 nM using Lipofectamine 2000. Cells were treated with the siRNA for 72 h prior to stimulation by MMP-1 or conditioned media for another 16 h.

3.10 Real-time PCR analysis of MCP-1 mRNA

The real-time PCR was performed with human MCP-1 and β -actin (as an internal standard)-specific primers (Table 2). All real-time PCR reactions were carried out in a final volume of 50 µL and were performed in duplicate for each cDNA sample in the ABI PRISM 7700 Sequence Detection System according to the manufacturer's protocol. The optimized reaction consisted of 25 µL of iTaq SYBRGreen Supermix with ROX, 0.02 U/µL of Uracil-N-glycosylase, 3 µL of diluted cDNA templates, and 200 nM of each specific forward and reverse primer. The PCR protocol was 95 °C for 5 min, followed by 45 cycles of 95 °C for 15 s and 60 °C for 1 min. Specificity of the amplification was checked by melt-curve analysis. Relative levels of mRNA expression were calculated according to Pfaffl method [167]. Individual expression values were normalized by comparison with β -actin mRNA expression.

 Table 2. Primers used for real-time PCR

NAME	SEQUENCE
MCP-1	5'- ATAGCAGCCACCTTCATTCC-3'(forward)
	5'- ATCCTGAACCCACTTCTGCT-3' (reverse)
β-actin	5'- AGAAAATCTGGCACCACACC-3' (forward)
	5'- AGAGGCGTACAGGGATAGCA-3' (reverse)

3.11 Promoter constructs and site-directed mutagenesis

The MMP-1 promoter construct pGL3-512 was generated from pGL3-2942 by KpnI digestion. A site-directed mutagenesis kit was used to mutate the core sequences of three AP-1 sites in the pGL3-512 construct: -429m: 5'-TCAGTCA-3' to 5'-ggAGTCA-3'; - 181m: 5'-TTAATCA-3' to 5'-ggAATCA-3'; -73m: 5'-TGAGTCA-3' to 5'-ggAGTCA-3'. Human MCP-1-CAT reporter plasmid was reconstructed into pGL3 luciferase reporter vector. A site-directed mutagenesis kit was used to mutate the core sequence of SP1 binding site in the reconstructed luciferase reporter plasmid: SP1 wild-type (SP1wt), 5'-CCGCCC-3' to SP1 mutant (SP1m), 5'-CCGggg-3'. Primers used for generation of these mutants were list in Table 3.

T 11 3	D •	10		· · ·	1. / 1	•
Table 4	Primerc	used for	generation	of site	-directed	mutagenesis
Lable 5.	I I IIIICI S	uscu IOI	generation	or site	unceicu	mutagenesis

NAME	SEQUENCE
-429m forward	GCTGGGGGGAGCTGAACT <u>GG</u> AGTCAGTACAGGAGCCGAACAGCC
-429m reverse	GGCTGTTCGGCTCCTGTACTGACT <u>CC</u> AGTTCAGCTCCCCAGC
-181m forward	CGCACACATCTTGTTTGAAG <u>GG</u> AATCATGACATTGCAACACC
-181m reverse	GGTGTTGCAATGTCATGATT <u>CC</u> CTTCAAACAAGATGTGTGCG
-73 forward	GGATGTTATAAAGCA <u>GG</u> AGTCAGACACCTCTGGCTTTCTGG
-73 reverse	CCAGAAAGCCAGAGGTGTCTGACT <u>CC</u> TGCTTTATAACATCC
SP1m forward	CCCTCCTCCTGCTTGACTCCG <u>GGG</u> TCTCTCCCTCTGCCCGC
SP1m reverse	GCGGGCAGAGGGGAGAGAGA <u>CCC</u> CGGAGTCAAGCAGGAGGAGGG

3.12 Luciferase assay

Cells were seeded in 12-well plate and transfected with pGL3-MMP-1 or pGL3-MCP-1 reporter plasmids using TransIT-2020 Transfection Reagent. After 24 h of transfection, cells were incubated with I-BOP or vehicle control (0.1% ethanol) for additional 18 h. Thereafter, cells were collected and further detected by using a microplate luminometer (MTX lab systems, Vienna, VA). The luciferase activity in cell lysate was determined as described previously [166].

3.13 Preparation of nuclear extract

Nuclear proteins were prepared as described previously [168]. In brief, A549-TPα cells were scraped into cold phosphate buffered saline (PBS) and centrifuged at 1000 rpm for 2 min. Pellets were resuspended in buffer A [10 mM HEPES-KOH pH 7.9, 1.5 mM MgCl₂, 10 mM KCl, 0.5 mM dithiothreitol (DTT) and 0.2 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride (PMSF)] and incubated on ice for 15 min, then centrifuged at full speed in a tabletop centrifuge. The nuclear pellets were lysed for 20 min on ice in buffer B (20 mM HEPES-KOH, 1.5 mM MgCl₂, 420 mM NaCl, 25% glycerol, 0.2 mM EDTA, 0.5 mM DTT and 0.2 mM PMSF), and centrifuged for 2 min as above. The supernatant containing nuclear proteins was frozen at -80°C until analyzed.

3.14 Macrophage migration assay

RAW 264.7 macrophages migration was assessed by using CytoSelect 96-well cell migration assay kit (Cell Biolabs, San Diego, CA) following the manufacturer's instruction. In brief, ~ 1.0×10^5 cells in serum free medium were seeded onto the top well of a Trans-well insert (8 µm polycarbonate nucleopore filters), and the bottom well was supplemented with 150 µL serum free medium or A549-TP α conditioned medium through a10 kDa cut-off membrane prepared in **2.7**. After 12 h of stimulation, cells that had migrated through the filter were detached and dyed with CyQuant GR dye solution. The fluorescence was measured at 480/520 nm. For antibody neutralization study, 150 µL serum free medium was incubated with MCP-1 neutralizing antibody (5 µg) or isotype control antibody (5 µg) for 2 h at 37°C before added to the lower chamber. For inhibition study, RAW 264.7 cells were incubated with MCP-1

receptor (CCR2) antagonist RS-102895 (10 μ M) for 30 min before stimulation with the conditioned medium.

3.15 Co-culture experiments

For transwell co-culture system, control A549 or A549-TPα cells were plated into a six-well culture plate, and RAW 264.7 cells were seeded onto transwell inserts (with a 0.4 μm pore size) top on another six-well plate. After 24 h, replace the medium of A549 and RAW cells with fresh serum free medium and move the RAW 264.7 transwell inserts onto the six-well plate where A549 cells were seeded. After 12 h of co-culture, A549 cells were pictured and collected for RT-PCR analysis. For direct co-culture, control A549 cells which express GFP were plated with or without RAW 264.7 cells into a 12-well plate and cells were pictured after a certain periods. Diagrams of two co-culture systems were given in Figure 38 and Figure 42. The images of cells were captured using a Kodak digital camera under Olympus Tokyo CK inverted microscope.

3.16 Invasion assay

For I-BOP-induced invasion of A549-TP α and TP β cells, the invasion assay was assessed by using CytoSelect 96-well cell invasion assay kit following the manufacturer's instruction. In brief, ~ 1.0×10^5 cells in serum free medium were seeded onto the ECM protein coated filters, and the lower wells were supplement with medium containing 0.1% FBS. I-BOP or GM6001 were directly added to the cell suspension. After incubation for 24 h, cells that had penetrated through the filter were detached and dyed with CyQuant GR dye solution. The fluorescence was measured at 480/520 nM.

For macrophages-promoted invasion of control A549 cells, the invasion assay was carried out following the instructions of Cultrex 24-well Transwell BME cell invasion assay (Trevigen). Briefly, a 24-well unit with 8 μ m polycarbonate nucleopore filters (Corning) evenly coated with 100 μ L basement membrane extract coating solution (Trevigen) at 37 °C for 4 h. Control A549 cells (2×10⁵) expressing GFP and RAW 264.7 macrophages (1×10⁵) in serum free medium were placed in the upper compartment, and 50% RPMI 1640 plus 50% DMEM medium supplied with 0.1-0.5% FBS was added to the lower compartment. After 24 h incubation, cells that had not invaded were removed with a cotton swab. Cells that had invaded the lower surface of the membrane were observed under a fluorescence microscope. Invaded cells in three randomly selected fields were counted.

3.17 Statistical analysis

The differences between each group were expressed as mean \pm SD. Statistical significance was assessed by Student's *t* test. Differences were considered statistically significant when *P* values were ≤ 0.05 .

4. Results

4.1 Overexpression of TP increases invasion of human lung cancer cell A549

4.1.1 Ectopic expression of TPα and TPβ in A549 cells by lentiviral approach

It has been reported that TP agonists can initiate signaling transductions by activating endogenously expressed TP α/β in some lung and prostate cancer cells [10, 20]. In order to explore whether TP α and TP β function differently we chose to overexpress each receptor in human lung A549 cells which express low levels of endogenous TP and were shown no response to TP agonist [166]. The approach of using liposome-mediated DNA transfection method to increase expression of TP in A549 cells encountered limited success. The approach of using lentiviral vectors to deliver TP α and TP β cDNAs into A549 cells was therefore attempted. A lentiviral vector harboring GFP was used as a control. Stably transduced clones and populations (cell pools) were collected and designated as control A549, A549-TP α , and A549-TP β cells. The cell pools were used in this study to avoid deriving from the specificity of a single clone. The expression of $TP\alpha$ and TP β in these cells were determined by RT-PCR. As shown in Figure 10a, A549-TP α cells expressed a significantly higher level of TPa than A549-TPB and control A549 cells. Similarly, A549-TPB cells expressed highest level of TPB. Although there are low levels of endogenous expression of TP α and TP β in A549 cells, their levels are not adequate to mediate ERK responses to TP agonist, I-BOP, stimulation. As shown in Figure 10b, I-BOP induced significant phosphorylation of ERK in both A549-TP α and A549-TP β cells but not in control A549 cells.



Figure 10. Characterization of A549-TPa and A549-TPβ cells

(a) RT-PCR identification of over-expressed TP α and TP β mRNA in A549-TP α and A549-TP β cells. Cells total RNA was isolated. RT-PCR was carried out as described in Materials and methods. (b) I-BOP-induced phosphorylation of ERK1/2 in A549-TP α and A549-TP β cells. Cells were starved for 24 h before treatment with 50 nM I-BOP at indicated time. Western blot was performed as described in Materials and methods. GAPDH was used as the protein loading control. Data are representative of three independent experiments.

(b)

4.1.2 TP agonist induces decreases in E-cadherin levels in A549-TPα and TPβ cells

Tumor cell invasion is associated with the disruption of cell-cell adhesion and the movement of cells across the ECM. E-cadherin-catenin complex is critical for cell adhesiveness and maintenance of normal tissue architecture. Reduction of E-cadherin is tightly linked with cell invasion [169]. We examined the effects of TP agonists, I-BOP and U46619, on the expression of E-cadherin in our established A549-TP α and TP β cells. Results showed that activation of TP α and TP β significantly reduced E-cadherin expression (Figure 11).



Figure 11. Effects of TP activation on E-cadherin expression

A549-TP α and TP β cells were starved for 24 h before treated with 50 nM I-BOP or 1 μ M U46619 for another 48 h. The expression of E-cadherin was detected by Western blot analysis. Data are representative of three independent experiments.

4.1.3 TP agonist induces morphological changes of A549-TPα and TPβ cells

To acquire the invasive properties, tumor cells change their epithelial morphology to scattered spindle-shaped morphology which is usually associated with the loss of E-cadherin. In this study, when stimulated with I-BOP, A549-TP α and TP β cells became more scattered and exhibited elongated protrusions, indicating their invasive potential (Figure 12).



Figure 12. Effects of TP activation on cell morphological changes

A549 control, A549-TP α and A549-TP β cells were treated with 10 nM I-BOP or vehicle control (0.1% ethanol) for 48h. Cells were visualized with Zeiss Axiovert S100 inverted microscope. The images were captured using a Kodak digital camera.

4.1.4 TP agonist induces invasion of A549-TPα and TPβ cells

Next, we sought to determine whether I-BOP affects A549-TP α and A549-TP β cells invasion by using transwell invasion assay. As shown in Figure 13, I-BOP at 10 nM induced significant increase in both A549-TP α and A549-TP β cellular invasiveness. Nonetheless, it has no effect on control A549 cells.



Figure 13. Effects of TP activation on cell invasion

The invasiveness of A549 control, A549-TP α and A549-TP β cells under indicated concentrations of I-BOP was assayed as described in Materials and methods. Three separate experiments and triplicate wells each were performed. Data are presented as invasion relative to the vehicle control-treated cells. * *P* < 0.05; ** *P* < 0.01.

4.2 Increased expression of MMPs mediates TP agonist-induced invasion in A549-TPα cells

4.2.1 Induction of MMPs expression by TP agonist in both A549-TPa and TPB cells

Induction of MMPs expression by I-BOP in A549-TP α , A549-TP β and the control A549 cells was examined. Using semi-quantitative RT-PCR, we found that transcription of MMP-1, MMP-3, MMP-9 and MMP-10 genes was significantly induced by I-BOP in A549-TP α and A549-TP β cells but not in the control A549 cells (Figure 14a). I-BOP-induced increase in secretion of MMP-1 and MMP-9 in the media of A549-TP α and A549-TP β cell cultures was determined by Western blot analysis and zymographic assay (Figure 14b. MMP-3 can also be detected by casein zymography and it has a similar molecular weight as MMP-1). The expression patterns were comparable for A549 cells expressing either TP α or TP β . Therefore, A549 cells expressing TP α were primarily used for in depth study.

MMP-1 is the first member of the MMP family being identified and studied in greater detail. Many signaling pathways targeted to MMP-1 gene are conserved in other MMP genes. Therefore, subsequent studies were focused on TP-mediated MMP-1 expression and regulation in A549-TP α cells. I-BOP induced strong and sustained expression of MMP-1 mRNA as shown in Figure 15a. MMP-1 mRNA level increased rapidly at 1 h and reached maximum by 8 h following I-BOP stimulation and remained high over a 24 h period. The levels of protein expression in conditioned media determined by Western blot analysis correlated well with the levels of mRNA analyzed by RT-PCR. Dose-dependent study indicated that I-BOP at 1 nM was sufficient to induce MMP-1 expression in A549-TP α cells. I-BOP at 50 nM induced the maximal expression

(Figure 15b). The induction of MMP-1, MMP-3 and MMP-10 by I-BOP was also found in another lung cancer cell line H460 (Figure 15c) which expresses endogenous TP receptors, indicating the induction of MMPs was not simply due to the artificial expression of exogenous TP receptors.



(a)

Figure 14. Effects of I-BOP on MMPs expression and activity

(a) I-BOP-induced transcription of several MMPs in A549-TP α and A549-TP β cells. Cells were starved for 24 h before treatment with 50 nM I-BOP for 2 h or 12 h and then total RNA was isolated. RT-PCR was carried out as described in Materials and methods. Data are representative of three independent experiments.



Figure 14. Effects of I-BOP on MMPs expression and activity

(b) I-BOP-induced protein secretions of MMP-1 and MMP-9 in A549-TP α and A549-TP β cells. Cells were treated with 50 nM I-BOP for 24 h. Protein expression of MMP-1 and MMP-9 in the conditioned media were detected by Western blot (upper panel) and zymography (lower panel) as described in Materials and methods. MMP-3 can also be detected by casein zymography and it has a similar molecular weight as MMP-1. Data are representative of three independent experiments.



Figure 15. Effects of I-BOP on MMP-1 expression

(a) Time-dependent effects of I-BOP on MMP-1 expression. A549-TP α cells were treated with 50 nM I-BOP at indicated time. RT-PCR was carried out to identify mRNA levels of MMP-1. Densitometric analysis of each band was made. The ratio of MMP-1 to β -actin densities at 0 h was normalized to 1.0. Protein expression of MMP-1 in the conditioned medium was detected by Western blot analysis. Data are representative of three independent experiments.


Figure 15. Effects of I-BOP on MMP-1 expression

(b) Dose-dependent effects of I-BOP on MMP-1 expression. A549-TP α cells were treated with indicated concentrations of I-BOP for 12 h. MMP-1 mRNA level was determined by RT-PCR. MMP-1 protein expression in the conditioned medium was detected by Western blot analysis. Data are representative of three independent experiments.

(b)



Figure 15. Effects of I-BOP on MMP-1 expression

(c) I-BOP-induced MMPs expression in H460 cells. H460 cells were treated with indicated concentrations of I-BOP for 8 h. MMP-1, MMP-3 and MMP-10 mRNA levels and MMP-1 protein expression were determined as described above. Data are representative of three independent experiments.

4.2.2 Upregulation of MMP-1 is dependent on PKC and MAPK/ERK signaling

Signal transduction pathways leading to the expression of MMP-1 were investigated using specific inhibitors of signaling molecules. As shown in Figure 16, SQ29548, a TP antagonist, blocked totally I-BOP-induced MMP-1 expression at both mRNA and protein levels as expected. GF109203X, a PKC inhibitor, attenuated almost completely MMP-1 expression at both mRNA and protein levels. LY294002, a phosphoinositide-3-kinase (PI-3K) inhibitor, had no inhibitory effect on MMP-1 induction.

Downstream signaling pathway, mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway was also examined. A549-TPα cells were treated with MAPK/ERK inhibitor (U0126), stress-activated protein kinase/c-Jun N-terminal kinase (SAPK/JNK) inhibitor (SP600125) and p38 MAPK inhibitor (SB203580) at previously established inhibitory concentrations[166]. Only U0126 completely blocked I-BOP-induced MMP-1 expression. Other inhibitors exhibited no effects as shown in Figure 16. These data indicate that upregulation of MMP-1by I-BOP is PKC involved, MAPK/ERK dependent, SAPK/JNK and p38 MAPK independent process.



Figure 16. Effects of different inhibitors on I-BOP-induced MMP-1 expression

A549-TP α cells were treated with various inhibitors for 30 min before incubation with 50 nM I-BOP for 12 h. RT-PCR (upper panel) and Western blot (lower panel) were performed to determine MMP-1 mRNA level in cells and protein secretion in the conditioned medium, respectively. Data are representative of three independent experiments. Inhibitor concentration used: 10 μ M SQ29548 (SQ), 10 μ M LY294002 (LY), 0.5 μ M GF109203X (GF), 10 μ M U0126, 10 μ M SB203580 (SB), or 10 μ M SP600125 (SP).

4.2.3 AP-1 as a downstream signal of PKC and MAPK/ERK pathways

AP-1, composed of c-Jun and c-Fos families, is a known transcriptional regulator of MMP-1 expression[73]. We sought to determine whether PKC and MAPK/ERK signaling pathways mediate its activation and therefore regulate TP-induced MMP-1 expression.

Time course studies indicated that c-Jun was strongly activated by I-BOP within 10 min. The phosphorylation of c-Jun maintained at a maximal level from 30 min to 1 h, and remained high even at 2 h (Figure 17a upper panel). The protein expression of c-Fos was significantly induced by I-BOP at 1 h and reached a peak level at 2 h (Figure 17a lower panel). The rapid activation of c-Jun and c-Fos is consistent with the rapid induction of MMP-1 mRNA as shown in Figure 15a. These data suggest that there is a positive correlation between I-BOP-induced AP-1 activation and MMP-1 expression.

Cells were further treated with PKC and ERK inhibitors to test if they inhibit I-BOPinduced c-Jun/c-Fos activation. The results showed that PKC inhibitor, GF109203X, attenuated significantly c-Jun/c-Fos activation. ERK inhibitor, U0126, also significantly repressed c-Jun activation and totally blocked c-Fos expression (Figure 17b). GF109203X had no effect on I-BOP-induced ERK activation suggesting that PKCinduced activation of c-Jun/c-Fos was not likely to be mediated by MAPK/ERK (Figure 17b). PMA, a PKC activator, stimulated the activation of c-Jun/c-Fos providing further evidence that PKC was involved in I-BOP-induced AP-1 activation (Figure 17c). Although JNK inhibitor partially blocked I-BOP-induced phosphorylation of c-Jun, it has no inhibitory effect on I-BOP-induced c-Fos expression (Figure 17d).

58

To further confirm the involvement of PKC-AP-1 and ERK-AP-1 signal cascades in MMP-1 induction, luciferase reporter bearing a fragment of MMP-1 gene promoter which contains putative AP-1 sites was employed to examine their roles. In addition to the common ~-70 bp AP-1 site in all Group 1 MMP promoters, the 512 bp length of MMP-1 promoter construct contains two other putative AP-1 sites at -181 bp and -429 bp [170]. I-BOP induced a significant increase in luciferase activity which was presumably due to the activation of AP-1 proteins. Site-directed mutagenesis of AP-1 sites at -73 or -181 bp of MMP-1 promoter significantly decreased I-BOP-induced luciferase activity. However, mutation of AP-1 site at -429 bp has no effect on I-BOP induction of MMP-1 promoter activity indicating that the -73 and -181 AP-1 sites in the proximal region of MMP-1 promoter are more important for its transcription (Figure 17e). Inhibitors of PKC and ERK significantly attenuated the increase in luciferase activity induced by I-BOP stimulation (Figure 17f) supporting the notion that PKC and MAPK/ERK signaling pathways may converge at the AP-1 elements to regulate I-BOP-induced MMP-1 gene expression.



Figure 17. AP-1 is a downstream signal of PKC and MAPK/ERK pathways

(a) Time-dependent effect of I-BOP on phosphorylation of c-Jun and induction of c-Fos. A549-TPα cells were treated with 50 nM I-BOP at indicated time. Western blot analysis was performed to detect p-c-Jun and c-Fos. Data are representative of three independent experiments.



Figure 17. AP-1 is a downstream signal of PKC and MAPK/ERK pathways

(b) Effect of PKC and ERK inhibitors on I-BOP-induced phosphorylation of c-Jun and the expression of c-Fos. A549-TP α cells were treated with 0.5 μ M GF109203X (GF) or 10 μ M U0126 for 30 min before incubation with 50 nM I-BOP for 30 min (detecting p-c-Jun and p-ERK1/2) or 2 h (detecting c-Fos), followed by Western blot analysis with corresponding primary antibodies to detect p-ERK1/2, p-c-Jun and c-Fos. Data are representative of three independent experiments.



Figure 17. AP-1 is a downstream signal of PKC and MAPK/ERK pathways

(c) Effect of PMA on phosphorylation of c-Jun and expression of c-Fos. Cells were treated with 0.5 μ M GF109203X (GF) for 30 min before incubation with 100 nM PMA for 30 min (detecting p-c-Jun) or 2 h (detecting c-Fos), followed by Western blot analysis to detect p-c-Jun and c-Fos. Data are representative of three independent experiments. (d) Effect of JNK inhibitor on I-BOP-induced phosphorylation of c-Jun and expression of c-Fos. Cells were treated with 10 μ M SP600125 (SP) for 30 min before incubation with 50 nM I-BOP for 30 min (detecting p-c-Jun) or 2 h (detecting c-Fos), followed by Western blot analysis to detect p-c-Jun and c-Fos. Data are representative of three independent experiments.

(d)



Figure 17. AP-1 is a downstream signal of PKC and MAPK/ERK pathways

(e) AP-1 sites are important for MMP-1 gene activation. Luciferase reporter plasmids bearing 512 bp fragment of MMP-1 promoter with wild type or mutated AP-1 sites were transfected into A549-TP α cells. After 24 h of transfection, cells were treated with 50 nM I-BOP or vehicle control (0.1% ethanol) for additional 18 h. Cell lysates were then prepared. Luciferase activity was assayed as described in Materials and methods. Data were shown as fold change relative to the vehicle control. Values were means ± SD of three independent experiments. Statistical analysis was performed by Student's t-test. * P < 0.05; ** P < 0.01.



Figure 17. AP-1 is a downstream signal of PKC and MAPK/ERK pathways

(f) Effect of PKC and ERK inhibitors on I-BOP-induced MMP-1 transcription. Luciferase reporter construct containing 512 bp of MMP-1 promoter was transfected into A549-TP α cells. After transfection for 24 h, cells were treated with 0.5 μ M GF109203X (GF) or 10 μ M U0126, followed by stimulation with 50 nM I-BOP or vehicle control (0.1% ethanol) for 18 h. Luciferase activity was assayed and data were presented as fold change relative to the vehicle control. Values were means \pm SD of three independent experiments. Statistical analysis was performed by Student's t-test. ** *P* < 0.01.

4.2.4 C/EBPβ contributes to I-BOP-induced MMP-1 expression

I-BOP-induced MMP-1 mRNA did not reach the maximal level until 8 h suggesting the possibility that other transcription factors activated later by I-BOP may participate in the regulation of MMP-1 transcription. CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein β (C/EBP β) was identified to contribute to the increase in MMP-1 transcription by IL-1 β in chondrocytes and A549 cells [171, 172]. To establish whether C/EBP_β play a role in I-BOP-mediated MMP-1 expression, we first set out to determine the activation of $C/EBP\beta$ by I-BOP using Western blot analysis. Both the expression and phosphorylation of C/EBPβ increased in response to I-BOP stimulation (Figure 18a). The maximal increase occurred at 8 h concurrent with the maximal level of MMP-1 mRNA in I-BOP treated cells (Figure 15a and Figure 18a), indicating the possibility that C/EBP_β may modulate MMP-1 gene expression. The effect of C/EBP β inhibition on I-BOP-mediated MMP-1 expression was then examined. C/EBP β siRNA at 50 nM significantly knocked down C/EBPβ protein expression and phosphorylation in I-BOP treated cells as compared with the control siRNA (Figure 18b). The knockdown of C/EBP_β partially blocked I-BOPinduced MMP-1 mRNA and protein expression, indicating the involvement of C/EBPß in MMP-1 regulation.

Furthermore, luciferase reporter assay was used to demonstrate the contribution of C/EBP β to I-BOP-induced MMP-1 transcription. C/EBP β -binding element is located at - 2,921 bp of human MMP-1 promoter. Deletion mutation of this binding site resulted in ~70% reduction of basal promoter activity and ~40% decrease in relative fold of I-BOP-induced promoter activity compared with the wild type (Figure 18c) indicating that C/EBP β is critical for constitutive and I-BOP-induced MMP-1 expression in A549-TP α

65

cells. The upstream signaling pathways leading to the activation of C/EBP β in I-BOP treated cells were further examined. ERK has been reported to phosphorylate C/EBP β at Thr-235 to increase its transcriptional activity [173]. Our Western blot results showed that ERK inhibitor, U0126, abrogated both I-BOP-induced expression and phosphorylation of C/EBP β (Figure 18d) suggesting that C/EBP β -mediated MMP-1 regulation is ERK-dependent.



(a)

Figure 18. C/EBP^β contributes to I-BOP-induced MMP-1 expression

(a) Time-dependent effect of I-BOP on expression and phosphorylation of C/EBP β . A549-TP α cells were treated with 50 nM I-BOP at indicated time. Western blot analysis was performed to detect both the expression and phosphorylation of C/EBP β . Data are representative of three separate experiments.



Figure 18. C/EBPβ contributes to I-BOP-induced MMP-1 expression

(b) Effect of C/EBP β knockdown on I-BOP-induced MMP-1 expression. A549-TP α cells were transfected with 50 nM control siRNA or C/EBP β siRNA. After transfection for 24 h, cells were treated with vehicle or 50 nM I-BOP for 8 h (detecting C/EBP β and p-CEBP β) or 12 h (detecting MMP-1). Western blot analysis was carried out to detect the expression of C/EBP β , p-C/EBP β in cell lysates and the secretion of MMP-1 in the conditioned medium. RT-PCR was performed to identify MMP-1 mRNA level as described in Materials and methods. Densitometric analysis of each band was made. The value of vehicle-treated control was normalized as 1.0.



Figure 18. C/EBPβ contributes to I-BOP-induced MMP-1 expression

(c) C/EBP β -mediated regulation of MMP-1 promoter activity. A549-TP α cells were transfected with luciferase reporter plasmids containing 2,942 bp of MMP-1 promoter sequence or same length promoter with an internal deletion of the CEBP β site located at -2,921bp. After transfection for 24 h, cells were treated with vehicle control or 50 nM I-BOP for additional 18 h. Luciferase activity was assayed and data are presented as relative light unit (right panel). The relative fold of I-BOP inducibility of wild and mutant promoters was compared (left panel). * P < 0.05.



Figure 18. C/EBPβ contributes to I-BOP-induced MMP-1 expression

(d) I-BOP-induced C/EBP β activation is ERK-dependent. A549-TP α cells were treated with 10 μ M U0126 for 30 min before stimulation with vehicle control or 50 nM I-BOP for 8 h. CEBP β and p-CEBP β were assayed by Western blot analysis. Densitometric analysis of each band was made. The value of vehicle-treated control was normalized as 1.0. Data are representative of three separate experiments.

4.2.5 Elevated MMPs promote TP-mediated cell invasion

It is believed that MMP family proteins are associated with cancer invasive potential [174]. To investigate whether I-BOP could increase cell invasion through upregulation of MMPs, *in vitro* invasion assay was performed. As shown in Figure 14, I-BOP at 10 nM induced significant increase in both A549-TP α and A549-TP β cellular invasiveness. Nonetheless, it has no effect on A549 control cells. GM6001, a general MMPs inhibitor, blocked both basal and I-BOP-induced invasiveness of A549-TP α cells (Figure 19a). To further validate the role of I-BOP-induced MMPs in cell invasion, A549-TP α cells were treated with siRNA of MMP-1 and MMP-9 and then analyzed for cellular invasiveness. Total inhibition of MMP-1 and MMP-9 expression resulted in ~40% and ~60% decrease in invasion, respectively (Figure 19b). These findings suggest that TP-mediated A549 cell invasion is at least partially dependent on MMP-1 and MMP-9 induction.



Figure 19. Elevated MMPs promote I-BOP-induced cell invasion

(a) Effect of MMPs inhibitor on I-BOP-induced invasion of A549-TP α cells. GM6001 at 10 μ M was added in cell suspension before treatment with vehicle control or 10 nM I-BOP. Invasion assay was performed as described in Materials and methods. ** *P* < 0.01.



Figure 19. Elevated MMPs promote I-BOP-induced cell invasion

(b) Effect of MMP-1 and MMP-9 knockdown on I-BOP-induced invasion. A549-TP α cells were transfected with 50 nM control, MMP-1 or MMP-9 siRNA. After transfection for 24 h, cells were resuspended in serum-free media with vehicle control or 10 nM I-BOP. The mRNA and protein levels of MMP-1 and MMP-9 were measured by RT-PCR and Western blot analysis. Invasion assay was performed as described in Material and methods. Three separate experiments and triplicate wells each were performed. Data are presented as invasion relative to the vehicle control-treated cells. * *P* < 0.05.

4.3 MMP-1 released by activation of TP induces expression of MCP-1 from lung cancer cells by activation of PAR2

In addition to structural components of the ECM, MMPs can cleave non-ECM molecules. Protease-activated receptor 1(PAR1) was identified as a novel substrate for MMP-1[69]. MMP-1/PAR1 axis has been identified to mediate invasion and metastasis of various cancers including breast cancer [69, 93], melanoma [70] and ovarian cancer [94, 95]. MCP-1-mediated macrophage infiltration has been demonstrated to contribute to cancer metastasis too [132]. Increased release of MCP-1 from A549 cells by activation of PAR1 and PAR2 has been reported before [106]. Here we investigated whether MMPs released by TP activation may cleave and activate PARs to initiate other cascades that involved in cancer invasion and metastasis.

4.3.1 Conditioned media from TP agonist-treated A549-TPα cells induces the release of MCP-1 from A549 cells

To determine if MMPs induced by TP agonist can exert autocrine influences on cancer cell behavior, we first measured MCP-1 levels in A549 cells treated with conditioned media (CM) from A549-TP α cells. As shown in Figure 20, the CM from I-BOP-treated A549-TP α cells (CM-I-BOP) stimulated significantly the release of MCP-1 from control A549 cells compared with the CM from vehicle-treated A549-TP α cells (CM-Control). We found that activation of TP induced the expression and release of MCP-1 directly from A549-TP α cells (results are presented in **4.4**). To avoid the impact of TP on the induction of MCP-1, we used control A549 cells in the following studies.



Figure 20. CM-I-BOP induces release of MCP-1 from A549 cells

A549 cells were incubated with 100 μ L of concentrated conditioned media (CM) as described in Materials and methods for 16 h. CM-Control: CM from vehicle (0.1% ethanol)-treated A549-TP α cells; and CM-I-BOP: CM from I-BOP-treated A549-TP α cells. Western blot was conducted to determine the release of MCP-1 from A549-GFP cells as described in Materials and methods. Densitometric analysis of each band was made and results shown as fold change, ** *P* < 0.01 compared with CM-Control.

4.3.2 MMP-1 mediates the release of MCP-1 by conditioned media from TP agonisttreated A549-TPα cells

I-BOP induced an increase in protein levels of MMP-1, MMP-3 and MMP-9 in the media of A549-TP α cells (Figure 21a). Different approaches were used to examine which of these MMPs can induce MCP-1 expression. As shown in Figure 21b, the CM from A549-TP α cells over-expressing MMP-9 did not induce the release of MCP-1 from these cells. Recombinant human MMP-3 did not stimulate the expression of MCP-1 either. However, MMP-1 significantly increased the expression of MCP-1 (Figure 21c). Further, the CM from MMP-1-siRNA-treated A549-TP α cells, in which the induction of MMP-1 by I-BOP was significantly decreased, had less effect on MCP-1 release than those media from control siRNA-treated cells (Figure 21d). These data indicate that MMP-1 in the CM-I-BOP may be responsible for inducing the release of MCP-1.

(a)



Figure 21. MMP-1 mediates CM-I-BOP-induced MCP-1 from A549 cells

(a) I-BOP induces MMP-1, MMP-3 and MMP-9 expression. The protein levels of MMP-1, MMP-3 and MMP-9 in CM from A549-TP α cells treated with 0.1% ethanol (control) or I-BOP were determined by Western blot analysis. Data are representative of three independent experiments.



Figure 21. MMP-1 mediates CM-I-BOP-induced MCP-1 from A549 cells

(b) The effects of MMP-9 on MCP-1 release. A549-TP α cells were transfected with pcDNA3 and pcDNA3-MMP-9 plasmids. After 48 h transfection, conditioned media were collected and MMP-9 protein levels were determined by Western blot (upper panel). A549 cells were treated for 16 h with above CM. MCP-1 protein levels were determined by Western blot (lower panel). Results are representative of three independent experiments. (c) The effects of MMP-3 and MMP-1 on MCP-1 release. Control A549 cells were treated with PBS (control), 5 nM MMP-1 or 5 nM MMP-3 for 16 h. The release of MCP-1 was determined by Western blot. Densitometric analysis of each band was made and results were shown as fold change, ** *P* < 0.01 compared with control.

(b)



Figure 21. MMP-1 mediates CM-I-BOP-induced MCP-1 from A549 cells

(d) The effects of MMP-1 knockdown in CM on MCP-1 release. A549-TP α cells were treated with either control or MMP-1 siRNA as indicated in Materials and methods. Conditioned media were collected and MMP-1 protein levels were determined by Western blot (upper panel). A549 cells were treated for 16 h with the above CM. MCP-1 protein levels were determined by Western blot (lower panel). Densitometric analysis of each band was made and results were shown as fold change, ** *P* < 0.01 compared with siControl plus I-BOP. Results are representative of three individual experiments.

4.3.3 MMP-1-induced MCP-1 release is PAR2 dependent

To determine if MMP-1-induced MCP-1 expression in A549 cells was achieved by cleaving and activating PARs, PARs specific antagonists were employed in this study. Unexpectedly, PAR1 antagonist SCH79797 at 50 nM did not block MMP-1-induced MCP-1 expression. However, SCH79797 at the same concentration effectively inhibited TFLLR-NH₂, a PAR1-AP, -induced MCP-1 expression (Figure 22 and 24b). Similar results were obtained from the treatment with tc-Y-NH₂, a PAR4 antagonist peptide (Figure 22 and 24b). Interestingly, PAR2 antagonist ENMD-1068 completely inhibited MMP-1-induced MCP-1 expression (Figure 22). Comparing all PAR-APs, we found SLIGKV-NH₂, a PAR2-AP, induced the most effective release of MCP-1 and PAR3-AP showed no induction of MCP-1 from A549 cells (Figure 23). The concentration of each PAR-AP used here is all optimal for the maximum induction. Trypsin, a known PAR2 activating protease, also induced the expression of MCP-1 at 0.1µg/mL. Both inductions can be blocked totally by PAR2 antagonist (Figure 24a).

We also compared the increase of MCP-1 mRNA level by MMP-1 and PAR2-AP. Our RT-PCR results showed that a PAR2-AP induced more rapid expression of MCP-1 than did MMP-1. PAR2-AP already stimulated the expression of MCP-1 mRNA at 1 h, and the expression reached the peak at 2 h. Nonetheless, MMP-1-treated cells displayed a delayed increase in the expression of MCP-1 mRNA (Figure 25). In addition, CM-I-BOP-induced MCP-1 release was also blocked by antagonist of PAR2 but not those of other PARs, which is in consistent with the results obtained from MMP-1 treatment (Figure 26).

78

To further demonstrate that MMP-1-induced MCP-1 expression is mediated by PAR2, the siRNA of PAR2 was used to knock down its expression in A549 cells. As shown in Figure 27a, PAR2 siRNA at 100 nM successfully knocked down greater than 80% of PAR2 protein expression in A549 cells. The inductions of MCP-1 by MMP-1 and by CM-I-BOP in PAR2 knockdown cells were decreased by ~45% and ~40%, respectively (Figure 27b and 27c). These data indicate that MMP-1-induced release of MCP-1 from A549 cells is significantly mediated by PAR2.



Figure 22. PAR2 antagonist blocks MMP-1-induced MCP-1 release from A549 cells

Cells were treated with different PARs antagonists at optimized inhibitory concentrations for 30 min before stimulation with 5 nM MMP-1 for 16 h. PARs antagonists: PAR1, 50 nM SCH79797; PAR2, 150 μ M ENMD-1068; PAR4, 300 μ M tc-Y-NH₂. MCP-1 protein levels were determined by Western blot. Densitometric analysis of each band was made and results were shown as fold change, ** *P* < 0.01 compared with MMP-1 alone.



Figure 23. PAR-APs induce MCP-1 release from A549 cells

Cells were treated with different PAR-APs: PAR1, 300 μ M TFLLR-NH₂; PAR2, 300 μ M SLIGRL-NH₂; PAR3, 300 μ M TFRGAP-NH₂; PAR4, 300 μ M GYPGQV-NH₂, for 16 h. MCP-1 protein levels were determined by Western blot. Densitometric analysis of each band was made and results were shown as fold change, ** *P* < 0.01 compared with control.



Figure 24. PARs antagonists block PARs agonists-induced MCP-1 release from A549 cells

(a) Cells were treated with or without 150 μ M PAR2 antagonist, ENMD-1068, for 30 min before incubation with PAR2 agonist, 0.1 μ g/ml trypsin (optimized concentration for PAR2 activation) and 300 μ M SLIGRL-NH₂, for 16 h. MCP-1 protein levels were measured by Western blot. Densitometric analysis of each band was made and results were shown as fold change, ** *P* < 0.01 compared with trypsin or SLIGRL-NH₂ alone. (b) Cells were treated with or without PAR1 or PAR4 antagonist (50 nM SCH79797 for PAR1, 300 μ M tc-Y-NH₂ for PAR4) for 30 min before stimulation with PAR1-AP, 300 μ M TFLLR-NH₂ or PAR4-AP, 300 μ M GYPGQV-NH₂, for 16 h. MCP-1 protein levels were determined by Western blot. Densitometric analysis of each band was made and results were determined by Western blot.



Figure 25. MMP-1 and PAR2-AP induce the transcription of MCP-1

Cells were treated with 300 μ M PAR2-AP, SLIGRL-NH₂ or 5 nM MMP-1 at indicated time. RT-PCR was carried out to identify mRNA levels of MCP-1 in cells. Data are representative of at least three individual experiments.



Figure 26. PAR2 antagonist blocks CM-I-BOP-induced MCP-1 release from A549 cells

Cells were treated with different PARs antagonists as described in Figure 23 for 30 min before stimulation with CM-I-BOP for 16 h. MCP-1 protein levels were determined by Western blot. Densitometric analysis of each band was made and results were shown as fold change, ** P < 0.01 compared with CM-I-BOP alone. (a)



(b)

(c)



Figure 27. PAR2 siRNA suppresses MMP-1 and CM-I-BOP-induced MCP-1 release from A549 cells

(a) Cells were treated with control or PAR2-siRNA as described in Materials and methods. After treatment for 72 h, PAR2 protein levels were determined by Western blot analysis. (b) and (c) Control or PAR2-siRNA-treated cells were incubated with 5 nM MMP-1 or CM for 16 h. MCP-1 release were determined by Western blot. Densitometric analysis of each band was made and results were shown as fold change, ** P < 0.01compared with siControl.

4.4 Activation of TP increases MCP-1 expression and recruits macrophages to promote invasion of lung cancer cells

In addition to stimulating MCP-1 expression through released MMP-1, activation of TP can directly induce a rapid and significant expression of MCP-1 in A549-TP α cells.

4.4.1 Induction of MCP-1 expression by activation of TP

To examine the effects of activation of TP α on the expression of MCP-1, A549-TP α cells were treated with TP agonist I-BOP at different time points. RT-PCR results showed that I-BOP induced a rapid and sustained expression of MCP-1 mRNA (Figure 28a). Quantitative real-time PCR assay was utilized to further determine the kinetics of MCP-1 induction. As shown in Figure 28b, the MCP-1 mRNA levels peaked at 4 h and still maintained a significant increase at 16 h after I-BOP treatment. The protein levels of I-BOP-induced MCP-1 expression were analyzed by Western blot assay. The accumulation of MCP-1 in conditioned medium reached the maximum level at 24 h following stimulation (Figure 28c). Further, the induction of MCP-1 by I-BOP was dosedependent and the effect was significant even at 1 nM of I-BOP (Figure 28d). In addition, the induction of MCP-1 by I-BOP was also observed in H157 and H460 human lung cancer cells that express high endogenous levels of TP [10] (Figure 29). When compared with other prostanoids including PGD₂, PGE₂, and PGF_{2 α}, I-BOP induced the most significant expression of MCP-1 in A549-TP α and H460 cells (Figure 30). Moreover, other prostanoids induced the peak expression of MCP-1 at a higher concentration (1μ M). These data show that TP plays an important role in the production of MCP-1 in lung cancer cells.



(b)





(a) I-BOP induced transcription of MCP-1. Cells were serum-starved for 24 h before treated with 50 nM I-BOP for the indicated time periods. RNAs were isolated and RT-PCR was carried out as described in Materials and methods. (b) MCP-1 mRNA induction in (a) was confirmed by quantitative real-time PCR. ** P < 0.01 compared with untreated cells.



Figure 28. Effects of I-BOP on MCP-1 expression in A549-TPa cells

(c) Time-dependent effects of I-BOP on MCP-1 protein expression. After 24 h serumstarvation, cells were treated with 50 nM I-BOP for the indicated time periods. Media were collected and proteins in each medium were concentrated by trichloroacetic acid (TCA) precipitation as described in Materials and methods. Concentrated samples were dissolved in SDS-PAGE sample loading buffer and analyzed by Western blot. (d) Dosedependent effects of I-BOP on MCP-1 protein expression. After 24 h serum-starvation, cells were treated with indicated dose of I-BOP for further 24 h. Media were collected and assayed as described in (c).

(d)



Figure 29. I-BOP-induced MCP-1 protein expression in H157 and H460 cells

After 24 h serum-starvation, cells were treated with indicated dose of I-BOP for further 24 h. Media were collected and assayed as described in Figure 28c. Data are representative of three independent experiments.


Figure 30. Comparison of I-BOP with other prostanoids on the induction of MCP-1 in A549-TPα and H460 cells

After 24 h serum-starvation, cells were treated with 50 nM I-BOP, 1μ M PGD₂, 1μ M PGE₂ or 1μ M PGF₂ for 24 h. Media were collected and assayed as described in Figure 28c. Densitometric analysis of each band was made, and control untreated time point is normalized to 1. Data are representative of three independent experiments.

4.4.2 SP1 is important for TPα-mediated MCP-1 expression

Upon ligand binding TP activates several downstream signal transduction cascades including PKC, ERK and NF- κ B pathways that are involved in MCP-1 induction by several cytokines [118, 119, 175]. To investigate whether these pathways are responsible for I-BOP-induced MCP-1 expression, several specific inhibitors were used. As shown in Figure 31, except TP antagonist, SQ29548, none of other inhibitors (GF109203X for PKC, U0126 for MEK/ERK, and MG132 for NF-κB pathways) has an effect on I-BOPinduced MCP-1 expression indicating these pathways are not involved in the induction. In the proximal region of MCP-1 promoter, there is a GC rich element, which can bind nuclear factor SP1 to activate transcription (Figure 8) [115]. To elucidate whether SP1 is critical for MCP-1 induction by I-BOP, we employed mithramycin A (MTM), a specific SP1inhibitor preventing SP1 from binding to its consensus GC rich sites [176], and geldanamycin (GA), an inhibitor of Hsp90 which was also reported to affect binding of SP1 to gene promoter [177]. Both inhibitors significantly suppressed the induction of MCP-1 by I-BOP at protein and mRNA levels (Figure 32 and 33). We further investigated the effects of I-BOP on SP1 translocation and expression. As shown in Figure 34, SP1 protein started to accumulate in nucleus after incubation with I-BOP for 30 min, and remained elevated at 4 h. I-BOP also induced the expression of SP1 at 2 h. Moreover, promoter-luciferase reporter bearing a fragment of 500 bp of human MCP-1 gene promoter was used to evaluate the contribution of SP1 to I-BOP-induced MCP-1 transcription. SP1-binding element is located at -115 bp of MCP-1 promoter. Sitedirected mutagenesis of SP-1 site resulted in a significant decrease of I-BOP-induced

promoter activity compared with the wild type (Figure 35). These data reveal that TPmediated MCP-1 expression is SP1 dependent.



Figure 31. Effects of TP antagonist and several protein kinases inhibitors on I-BOPinduced MCP-1 expression

Cells were treated with TP antagonist SQ29548 (10 μ M), PKC inhibitor GF109203X (0.5 μ M), MEK inhibitor U0126 (10 μ M), and NF- κ B activation inhibitor MG132 (10 μ M) for 30 min before incubation with 50 nM I-BOP for 24 h. Media were collected and assayed as described in Figure 28c.



Figure 32. Effects of SP1 inhibition on I-BOP-induced MCP-1 expression at protein levels

Cells were treated with indicated concentrations of SP1 inhibitor mithramycin A (MTM) and Hsp90 inhibitor geldanamycin (GA) for 30 min before incubation with 50 nM I-BOP for 24 h. Media were collected and assayed as described in Figure 28c.



Figure 33. Effects of SP1 inhibition on I-BOP-induced MCP-1 expression at mRNA levels

Cells were treated with above inhibitors for 30 min before incubation with 50 nM I-BOP for 4 h. RNAs were isolated and real-time PCR was performed as described in Materials and methods. * P < 0.05 and ** P < 0.01 compared with I-BOP treated alone.



Figure 34. SP1 protein levels are increased in the nuclei of A549-TP α cells following I-BOP stimulation

Cells were treated with 50 nM I-BOP for the indicated time periods. Nuclear extract and whole cell lysate were prepared as described in Materials and methods. Protein level of SP1 was determined by Western blot. Densitometric analysis of each band was made and control untreated time point was normalized to 1.



Figure 35. Regulation of MCP-1 promoter activity by SP1

A549-TP α cells were transfected with luciferase reporter plasmids containing 500 bp of MCP-1 promoter sequence with either wild type or mutated SP1 binding sites. After 24 h transfection, cells were treated with vehicle control (0.1% ethanol) or 50 nM I-BOP for additional 18 h in serum free medium. Luciferase assay was carried out as described in Materials and methods. ** *P* < 0.01.

4.4.3 TP agonist-induced MCP-1 exhibits chemotactic effects on macrophages

To determine the chemotactic property of I-BOP-induced MCP-1 on macrophages, we examined the effect of conditioned medium from A549-TP α cells treated with or without I-BOP on the migration of murine macrophage RAW 264.7 cells. As shown in Figure 36, conditioned media from I-BOP-treated cells significantly induced RAW 264.7 cells migration compared to the media from vehicle (0.1% ethanol)-treated cells. MCP-1 neutralizing antibody and RS-102895, antagonist of CCR2, significantly decreased the chemotactic potency of medium from I-BOP-treated A549-TP α cells. These data indicate that MCP-1 is a key chemotactic factor in A549-TP α cell culture which caused migration of macrophages.



Figure 36. Effects of A549-TPα conditioned medium on the migration of RAW 264.7 macrophages

Chemotaxis assay of RAW 264.7 cells was carried out as described in Materials and methods. Preparation of conditioned medium (CM) from A549-TP α cells was also carried out as described in Material and methods section. CM-C is derived from vehicle-treated cells, and CM-I is derived from I-BOP-treated cells. SFM represents serum free medium. Rat IgG antibody which has no known specificity served as isotype control. The concentrations of both antibodies were 5µg/mL original CM. The concentration of RS-102895 was 10 µM. ** *P* < 0.01.

4.4.4 Co-culture of RAW 264.7 macrophages induces expression of metastatic genes by A549 cells

To elucidate the effects of macrophages on the invasiveness of A549 cells, we first used a trans-well co-culture system as shown in Figure 37. In this co-culture system, there is no cell-cell direct contact and cells communicate with each other through soluble proteins. Both control A549 and A549-TPa cells became more elongated and scattered after 12 h of co-culture with RAW264.7 cells than the cells grown alone (Figure 38). Furthermore, results from RT-PCR analysis showed that expressions of metastatic genes including several MMPs and VEGF were significantly elevated in either control A549 or A549-TPa cells co-cultured with macrophages (Figure 39). Macrophages also induced MCP-1 expression by control A549 or A549-TPa cells (Figure 39). As mentioned in **3.1.2**, Reduction of E-cadherin is tightly linked with cell migration and invasion [169]. Therefore, we examined whether macrophage-lung cancer cell interactions regulate Ecadherin expression in control A549 or A549-TP α cells. Indeed, co-culture with RAW 264.7 macrophages significantly reduced the levels of E-cadherin in either type of A549 cells (Figure 40). Collectively, these data indicate that co-culture with macrophages may increase migration and invasion potential of A549 cells.



Figure 37. Diagram of a transwell co-culture system

RAW 264.7 cells and A549 cells were separately cultured for 24 h and then co-cultured in serum free medium for further 12 h or 24 h as described in Materials and methods.



Figure 38. Transwell co-culture of RAW 264.7 macrophages induces morphological changes of A549 cells

Either control A549 or A549-TP α cells became more scattered and spindle shaped after culture with RAW 264.7 cells. A549 cells were pictured after 12 h of culture with or without RAW 264.7 cells as described in Figure 37.



Figure 39. Co-culture of macrophages induces metastatic gene expression by A549 cells

The expressions of several metastatic genes in A549 and A549-TP α cells including MMPs, VEGF and MCP-1 mRNA after co-culture with macrophages were examined by RT-PCR as described in Materials and methods. Data are representative of three independent experiments.



Figure 40. Co-culture of macrophages decreases E-cadherin expression by A549 cells

A549 cells were collected after 24 h of culture with or without RAW 264.7 cells as described in Figure 37. Protein level of E-cadherin was determined by Western blot as described in Material and methods. Results are a representative of three independent experiments.

4.4.5 Co-culture of RAW 264.7 macrophages induces morphological changes and invasion of A549 cells

To further examine if macrophages promote invasion of A549 cells, we next used another co-culture system as shown in Figure 41. In this system, cells communicate with each other via direct contact, which is closer to the physiological situation. As shown in Figure 42, after 12 h of co-culture with macrophages, control A549 cells exhibit elongated protrusions indicating the invasive potential. This morphology still sustained after 36 h of co-culture. In addition, in matrigel invasion assay, co-culture with macrophages induced a 2.5-fold increase in cellular invasiveness of control A549 cells through matrigel relative to those cells grown alone (Figure 43). These results indicate that macrophages attracted by MCP-1 released from A549 cells may stimulate cancer cells invasion.



Figure 41. Diagram of a direct co-culture system

RAW 264.7 cells and A549 cells were plated into the same well of a culture plate.



Figure 42. Direct co-culture of macrophages induces morphological changes of A549 cells

A549 cells exhibit elongated shape after culture with RAW 264.7 macrophages. A549 cells were plated into a 12-well plate with or without RAW 264.7 cells as described in Figure 41. Cells were pictured at the indicated time points. In the lower panel, those small cells exhibiting round shape were RAW 264.7 cells. Results are representative of three independent experiments.



Figure 43. Co-culture of macrophages induces invasion of A549 cells

Invasion assay of A549 cells was carried out as described in Material and methods. ** P < 0.01.

Copyright © Xiuling Li 2012

5. Discussion

5.1 Increased expression of MMPs mediates TP agonist-induced invasion in A549-TPα cells

There is much evidence that COX-2 and one of its derived products, prostaglandin E_2 (PGE₂) mediate invasion and metastasis of various cancers through upregulation of MMPs [63-65, 178]. TXA₂, another product downstream of COX-2, is also reported to be involved in cancer invasion and metastasis [46, 179]. However, there are few data on the connection between TXA₂-TP and MMPs in promotion of cancer invasion and metastasis. In this study, it was demonstrated that one TXA₂ mimetic, I-BOP, induced significantly the expression of several MMPs, such as MMP-1, MMP-3, MMP-9 and MMP-10 in both A549-TP α and A549-TP β cells. This study is the first to establish the association between TP and MMPs in cancer; it also provides the evidence that TP mediates cellular invasive potential by inducing MMPs.

To study the mechanisms of I-BOP-induced MMPs expression, MMP-1 was chosen as a model system to explore the roles of nuclear factors and signal transduction pathways in TP-mediated MMPs gene expression. Using specific pharmacological inhibitors of various signaling molecules which were reported to be activated in TP-mediated signaling transductions [10, 26, 180], we identified PKC and MAPK/ERK but not SAPK/JNK, P38 MAPK or PI3K pathways are involved in I-BOP-stimulated MMP-1 expression. Recently, Uchiyama *et al.* reported that both MMPs and PKC inhibitors inhibited TP agonist U46619-induced shedding of heparin-binding epidermal growth factor (HB-EGF)[181], suggesting the involvement of PKC in TP-mediated MMPs expression or activation.

We further explored downstream targets of PKC and ERK pathways in the regulation of MMP-1 expression. As we mentioned in **1.5.1**, based on the compositions of cis-acting elements in their promoters, MMPs have been roughly grouped into three categories. Group 1 consists of the majority of the MMPs: MMP-1, 3, 7, 9, 10, 12, 13 and 19 which contain a TATA box and an AP-1 site in the proximal region of their promoters. In the present study, MMPs induced by I-BOP belong to Group 1, suggesting that transcription factor AP-1 can be activated and involved in TP-mediated signaling. It has been previously reported that ERK-AP1 pathway play an important role in cytokine and growth factor stimulation of expression of MMPs. Constitutive activation of ERK transactivates the MMP-1 promoter through phosphorylation and activation of AP-1 and Ets proteins [182]. EGF activation of the ERK pathway can activate multiple MMP genes simultaneously, including MMP-1[75], MMP-3[78], MMP-7, MMP-9[80] and MMP-14 [183]. PKC has also been shown to regulate MMPs expression through activation of AP-1[184]. Activation of AP-1 by TP agonist has been found in human vascular smooth muscle cells and endothelial cells [185, 186]. In this study, we found that I-BOP induced significantly the phosphorylaton of c-Jun and the expression of c-Fos, the major subunits of AP-1 transcription factors. Inhibition of PKC and ERK repressed the induction of p-c-Jun and c-Fos, suggesting that PKC and ERK pathways regulate MMP-1 expression through targeting at AP-1 factors. Both ERK and JNK can directly activate c-Jun according to others report [187]. We also detected the activation of JNK in I-BOP-treated cells and inhibition of JNK partially blocked I-BOP-induced p-c-Jun. However, JNK inhibitor neither decreased the induction of MMP-1 nor changed the expression of c-Fos, suggesting that activation of c-Jun alone is not sufficient to induce

TP-mediated MMP-1 expression. Activation of both c-Jun and c-Fos is required for TPmediated MMP-1 regulation. This is consistent with the findings of Hu *et al.* [188]who demonstrated that EGF and platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) could not induce the expression of MMP-1 and MMP-3 even though these growth factors induced significantly the expression of c-Jun, JunB and other AP-1 proteins in c-fos-deficient cell lines. To further define the role of AP-1 in I-BOP-induced MMP-1 transcription, we mutated three AP-1 sites separately in the region close to the transcription start site of MMP-1 promoter. The results showed that the proximal AP-1 site, -73 bp relative to the transcription start site, is critical to I-BOP-induced MMP-1 transcription.

In addition to AP-1, our results indicated that transcription factor C/EBPβ was also involved in I-BOP-induced MMP-1 expression. Previously, it was demonstrated that IL-1β and IL-17 induced MMP-1 expression through ERK-dependent induction and phosphorylation of C/EBPβ on Thr-235[171, 172, 189]. We showed that inhibition of ERK blocked I-BOP-induced expression and phosphorylation of C/EBPβ and knockdown of C/EBPβ by siRNA decreased I-BOP-induced MMP-1 expression. These results support the contention that C/EBPβ plays an important role in inducing MMP-1 expression. It has been shown that there are several silencer elements in the region between -1,653 and -2,672 bp of MMP-1 promoter which suppress the transcription of MMP-1[190]. The C/EBPβ site located at -2,921 bp is outside of the region of repression. Therefore, deletion mutation of this C/EBPβ site significantly decreased the basal and I-BOP-induced MMP-1transcription. In addition to MMP-1, MMP-3 and MMP-10 also contain multiple putative C/EBP sites in their promoters. Silencing C/EBPβ decreased IL-1β-induced MMP-3 and MMP-10 gene expression [172]. Our previous study

indicated that C/EBP plays an important role in I-BOP-stimulated COX-2 transcription [166]. Taken together, these data suggest that the role of C/EBP signaling pathways in TP-mediated transcriptional regulation of cancer related genes cannot be overlooked.

Our data show that I-BOP increased invasiveness of A549-TP α and A549-TP β cells maximally at low concentration (10 nM) although a higher concentration was needed to induce maximal expression of MMPs (Figure 13). This could be due to the fact that a higher concentration of TP agonist reduced tumor cell migration [20]. It seems that TP-mediated cell migration is in a temporal and spatial manner [20]. Further studies are required to provide a plausible explanation for the poor correlation.

In our studies, MMP-1 and MMP-9 function as mediators of I-BOP-induced cell invasion which are supported by other reports that short hairpin RNA of MMP-1 reduced invasiveness of breast cancer cells *in vitro* and prevent lung metastasis of melanomas [191, 192], and inhibition of MMP-9 blocked chronic lymphocytic leukemia B-cell invasion through matrigel [193]. These results may be due to the degradation of ECM by MMPs. Nevertheless, MMP-1 was recently found to activate protease activated receptor-1(PAR-1) to promote invasion of breast cancer and melanoma cells [69, 70]. MMP-9 has also been found to display anti-apoptotic effects on tumor cells that are independent of its catalytic activity [194]. These newly discovered functions of MMP-1 and MMP-9 may also be involved in TP-mediated cell invasion.

Moreover, COX-2 and MMP-1 were found to be part of the clinically validated lung metastasis gene signature (LMS) genes. Knockdown of COX-2 and MMP-1/2 genes synergistically inhibited metastasis of breast cancer [195]. We previously demonstrated that I-BOP significantly increased COX-2 expression in A549-TPα cells. The induced

COX-2 produced more prostaglandins and TXA₂ as a result of positive feedback [166]. Taken together, these studies suggest that targeting TP may prevent metastasis of cancer effectively via suppression of both COX-2 and MMP-1 production.

GM6001, a general inhibitor of MMPs, inhibited both basal and I-BOP-induced invasion. These results suggest that MMPs, other than MMP-1 and MMP-9, such as MMP-3 and MMP-10 which are also induced by I-BOP are involved in TP-mediated cell invasion. Elevated levels of these MMPs were previously reported to be critical for cancer invasion and metastasis [196-198].

In summary, our findings indicate that TXA_2 -TP mediates cancer cell invasion through upregulation of several MMPs. PKC-, ERK-AP-1 and ERK-C/EBP β pathways are involved in TP-mediated MMP-1 expression. Figure 44 depicts signaling pathways for TP-mediated expression of MMPs.



Figure 44. Proposed pathways of TP-mediated MMP-1 expression

5.2 MMP-1-mediated release of MCP-1 by conditioned media from TP agonisttreated A549-TPα cells is through activation of PAR2

MMP-1 was reported to promote melanoma progression through both its collagenase activity and its PAR1 activating function [70]. MMP-1/PAR1 signaling induces a variety of genes which can contribute to melanoma invasion and metastasis. Here, it was demonstrated that the increased MMP-1 could induce the expression of MCP-1, a potential biomarker for tumor invasion and metastasis, by autocrinely acting on cancer cells surface receptor PAR2 in A549 cells.

Except for MMP-1, activation of TP α also induces MMP-3 and MMP-9 expression. MMP-3 and MMP-1 have been reported to induce macrophage MMP-9 expression in TNF- α and COX-2 dependent manner [199]. However, in our system neither MMP-3 nor MMP-9 can stimulate the release of MCP-1 from A549 cells, indicating the specific function of MMP-1 in MCP-1 gene induction. MMP-1 also induces an array of genes expression via PAR1 in endothelial cells in addition to melanoma cells [200]. However, MMP-1 and thrombin, a known PAR1 ligand, induce expression of different subsets of pro-angiogenic genes. PAR1 antagonist, SCH79797 cannot inhibit MMP-1-induced VEGFC, NOTCH4, AKT1 and ANGPT2 genes expression in endothelial cells [200]. Moreover, MMP-1-induced FGFR2, IGF1, SERPINB5 and S100A4 genes expression have not been associated with thrombin/PAR1 signaling in melanoma cells [70]. These studies indicate that MMP-1 may target other receptors than PAR1 to induce these genes expression. Our data showed that antagonist of PAR2, but not that of PAR1 or PAR4, inhibits MMP-1-induced MCP-1 release from A549 cells indicating the involvement of PAR2 in this process. The concentration of SCH79797 we used was 50 nM, which was

sufficient to block PAR1-AP-induced MCP-1 release. The same concentration also effectively blocked MMP-1-induced gene expressions in melanoma cells [70]. This is also supported by studies on MCP-1 induction using different PAR-APs. Although PAR1-AP and PAR4-AP can increase the expression of MCP-1, PAR2-AP induced more significantly MCP-1 release compared with them (p<0.001). Furthermore, Asokananthan *et al.* [201] reported that agonist peptides of PAR1, PAR2 and PAR4 but not that of PAR3 stimulated the release of other cytokines IL-6 and IL-8 from A549 cells with a rank order of potency of PAR2>PAR4>PAR1, which is in the same order as that for MCP-1 induction in our studies.

PAR2 has been shown to play an important role in cancer progression. PAR2 mediates tumor or stromal cells-derived proteases to shape tumor microenvironment by inducing various growth factors, pro-angiogenic and immune modulating cytokines [202]. It has been found that PAR2 signaling in breast cancer cells induced an array of pro-angiogenic factors and immune regulators, such as VEGF [102], Cyr61, VEGFC, CTGF, CXCL1, IL8, CSF1 and CSF2 [103]. Although activation of PAR1 also upregulated some of those factors in breast cancer cells, PAR2 was the major mediator for the induction of immune regulators CXCL1, IL8 and CSF2. MCP-1, another immune regulating cytokine, is often up-regulated together with IL-8 by extracellular stimuli [203, 204]. Thus, PARs-mediated MCP-1 expression may also mainly depend on PAR2 activation.

PAR-APs activate PARs by directly binding with their respective receptors without the cleavage process. Accordingly, the induction of MCP-1 mRNA by SLIGKV-NH₂, a PAR2-AP, was rapid. However, MMP-1 induced a delayed MCP-1 transcription

suggesting that MMP-1 may behave like other proteases by proteolytic unmasking of the tethered ligand first before the activation of PAR2. How MMP-1 cleaves and activates the N-terminus of PAR2 needs to be determined further.

Induction of MCP-1 by thrombin/PAR1 signaling has been observed in different cell types [106, 205, 206]. Similarly, induction of pro-angiogenic gene expressions by thrombin and MMP-1 was found also via PAR1 in human microvessel endothelial cells [200]. However, it appears that thrombin and MMP-1 cleave and activate PAR1 in a different manner. Thrombin cleaves PAR1 at R41-S42 and exposes SFLLRN sequence to activate PAR1, whereas MMP-1 cleaves PAR1 at two different locations (F87-I88 and L44-L45). Cleavage at L44-L45 results in decreasing or abolishing the functional activity of SFLLRN sequence [207]. Consequently, MMP-1 may also cleave and activate other PARs than PAR1. PAR2 appears to be an ideal target of MMP1 since antagonist of PAR2, ENMD-1068, but not that of PAR1 or PAR4 was able to block MMP-1 induced MCP-1 expression.

In conclusion, our studies, for the first time, provide the evidence that MMP-1induced MCP-1 expression is dependent on PAR2 activation in A549 cells. Although the mechanism of how MMP-1 activates PAR2 remains unknown, we linked TXA₂/TP signaling with PARs signaling in lung cancer cells by TP-mediated MMP-1 release.

5.3 Activation of TP increases MCP-1 expression and recruits macrophages to promote invasion of lung cancer cells

In addition to MMP-1, released by TP activation, can induce MCP-1 expression in A549 cells, TP agonist can directly stimulate the production of MCP-1 in A549-TP α

cells. In this study, we also suggest that MCP-1 may attract macrophages to cancer cells, thereby promoting their invasion.

TXA₂ has been shown to induce MCP-1 expression in vascular endothelial cells and also other cytokines in WISH cells (an amnion epithelium-derived cell line) [208, 209]. In addition, a recent report showed that TXAS inhibitor ozagrel suppressed MCP-1 and IL-8 gene expression and inflammatory cell accumulation in a lung injury model indicating the role of TXA₂ in regulation of these processes [210]. Cancers are considered as chronic wounds never heal. Therefore, they share certain characteristics. Several CC chemokines including MCP-1 were found to be highly expressed in human NSCLC tumor tissues and the levels of MCP-1 also significantly correlated to macrophage infiltration [138]. These findings led to the hypothesis that TXA₂ might be involved in lung cancer development via MCP-1-mediated macrophage recruitment. Especially compared to other prostanoids, TXA₂ agonist induced the most expression of MCP-1 in both H460 and A549-TP α cells indicating a significant contribution of TXA2-TP axis to MCP-1 production.

Mechanisms of regulation of MCP-1 by I-BOP were further studied. There are several cis-acting transcriptional regulatory elements including NF- κ B, AP1 and SP1 sites in the promoter region of human MCP-1 gene (Figure 8). Expression of MCP-1 induced by IL-1 β was regulated by PKC-dependent NF- κ B activation in smooth muscle cells [118]. U46619, another TP agonist, was also reported to induce MCP-1 expression via PKC-dependent induction of NF- κ B and AP-1 binding activity in vascular endothelial cells [208]. Activation of PKC, NF- κ B and AP-1 by TP-mediated G protein signaling has been found in several other cell types including A549 cells [166]. However, in this study,

neither PKC inhibitor GF109203X nor NF-kB activation inhibitor MG132 had any effect on I-BOP-induced expression of MCP-1. As presented in 4.2, I-BOP-induced MMP-1 expression was mediated by PKC and ERK-dependent AP-1 activation in the same cell lines. Nevertheless, inhibition of ERK did not block I-BOP-induced MCP-1 expression either, suggesting AP-1 was not involved in MCP-1 regulation by I-BOP in A549-TP α cells. These data indicated that separate signaling pathways were involved in the expression of downstream targets induced by I-BOP activation of TP. It is also possible that MCP-1 regulation is tissue-specific, and NF- κ B and AP-1 are not important for MCP-1 expression in lung epithelial cancer cells. A separate study in fibroblast 3T3 cells showing that the expression of MMP-1 induced by growth factors was c-Fos-dependent, whereas that of MCP-1 was not provides support to our proposition. Moreover, it has been reported that PDGF induction of MCP-1 transcription requires SP1 but not NF-κB and AP-1 response elements in its promoter region in fibroblast [115]. Therefore, we propose that in cancer cells I-BOP may regulate MCP-1 expression in a way similar to how PDGF does in fibroblast. We observed that SP1 was increased in nuclei after I-BOP stimulation and SP1 inhibitor blocked I-BOP-induced MCP-1 expression. Furthermore, using GC-rich promoter region of 12(S)-lipoxygenase as a probe, Chang and his colleagues identified that Hsp90 interacts with SP1 and modulates its promoter binding ability [177]. In the present study, indirect inhibition of SP1 by Hsp90 inhibitor geldanamycin blocked I-BOP-induced MCP-1 expression at protein as well as mRNA levels. Moreover, the results obtained from MCP-1 promoter-luciferase reporter assay further indicate the critical role of SP1 binding site in MCP-1 regulation by I-BOP. Although the upstream signals by which TP regulates SP1 expression and translocation

need further studies, the results presented here demonstrated that I-BOP induced MCP-1 expression in A549-TP α cells by SP1-dependent but NF- κ B and AP-1-independent mechanism.

As mentioned in **1.8.1**, macrophages have been classified into M1 and M2 two major groups. M1 macrophages inhibit tumor progression, whereas M2 macrophages promote tumor progression. Both M1 and M2 macrophages could be present in tumor islet. Here, we employed RAW264.7 macrophages to study the interactions between lung cancer cells and macrophages. RAW 264.7, a murine macrophage cell line, can be polarized into either M1 or M2 macrophages [211]. Interactions of RAW 264.7 macrophages with human cancer cells such as lymphoma and breast cancer cells have been reported in previous studies [212, 213]. Furthermore, human MCP-1 and mouse MCP-1 which is truncated at the C terminus are highly homologous. Indeed, human MCP-1 even has a higher chemotactic potency to murine monocytes than full length of murine MCP-1 due to the less glycosylation of human MCP-1 C terminus [214]. Therefore, RAW 264.7 macrophages can serve as an appropriate cell line to study TPmediated interactions between lung cancer cells and macrophages.

Macrophages contribute to various aspects of cancer progression such as cancer cell proliferation, survival, invasion, metastasis and angiogenesis. In this study, co-culture of macrophages with A549 cells stimulated gene expressions of several MMPs and VEGF by A549 cells. It was reported that A549-TP α cells induced tumor formation and angiogenesis in nude mice through induction of VEGF expression [37]. In **3.2** we also showed that I-BOP-induced invasion of A549-TP α cells was mediated by increased expression of several MMPs such as MMP-1 and MMP-9. Here, macrophages induced

these genes, and thus enhanced the effects of TP-mediated angiogenesis and invasion of cancer cells. MCP-1 was also induced in A549 cells by co-culture with macrophages forming a positive feedback loop that might reinforce the recruitment of more macrophages to promote cancer cell invasion.

Tumors are very heterogeneous and contain numerous subpopulations of cells [215] that may express different levels of TP. We show here that once TXA₂ initiates a signaling cascade leading to the release of MCP-1 from tumor cells expressing high levels of TP, the subsequent recruited macrophages could increase the invasion of tumor cells regardless of their TP levels. Therefore, TP expands its influence on tumor progression through MCP-1-mediated macrophage recruitment.

In summary, TP-mediated interactions and relationships among MMP-1, PAR2 and MCP-1, as well as macrophages leading to an increased invasive potential of carcinoma cells is illustrated in Figure 45.



Figure 45. Illustration of a tentative mechanism for TP-mediated invasion of cancer cells

Black arrows (→) represent pathways mediated by direct activation of TP. Gray arrow (→) represents pathway mediated by PAR2 activation. Dashed arrows (→) represent pathways activated by macrophages.

Copyright © Xiuling Li 2012

6. Summary and conclusions

In this dissertation, I investigated the cellular and molecular mechanisms by which thromboxane A2 receptor-mediated cancer cell invasion. The findings of this dissertation research are summarized below:

- (1) Using human lung adenocarcinoma cells A549 overexpressing TP α or TP β as a model system, we found that activation of either isoform of TP decreased the expression of cell-cell adhesion molecule E -cadherin, changed epithelial cell morphology to scattered spindle-shaped morphology, and induced invasion in these cells.
- (2) Further studies revealed that activation of TPs induced expression of several MMPs including MMP-1, MMP-3, MMP-9, and MMP-10. MMPs general inhibitor and siRNA of MMP-1 and MMP-9 blocked TP agonist-induced invasion of A549-TPα cells indicating the positive correlation of MMPs to TP-mediated cancer cell invasion. We also identified several key signal transduction pathways involved in MMP-1 gene regulation including ERK-AP1, PKC-AP1, and ERK-C/EBPβ pathways.
- (3) PAR2 was identified as a novel target of MMP-1 which induced MCP-1 expression in A549 cells. Conditioned media from I-BOP-treated A549-TPα cells (CM-I-BOP) also induced MCP-1 expression via MMP-1. PAR2 antagonist and siRNA blocked both MMP-1 and CM-I-BOP-induced MCP-1 expression.
- (4) Activation of TP could directly induce the release of MCP-1via SP1 dependent pathway. MCP-1 recruited macrophages which in turn stimulated the expression of several metastatic genes including MMPs and VEGF, therefore, enhanced the

invasion of A549 cells. Macrophages also induced a further generation of MCP-1 by A549 providing a positive feedback loop to recruit more macrophages to enhance cancer cell invasion.

(5) Finally, the rapid expression of MCP-1 induced by activation of TPα is followed by delayed expression of MCP-1 either induced by MMP-1or macrophages to ensure continued supply of chemotactic MCP-1 for recruitment of macrophages and for promotion of invasion of cancer cells.

Copyright © Xiuling Li 2012

7. References

- [1] Piper PJ, Vane JR. Release of additional factors in anaphylaxis and its antagonism by anti-inflammatory drugs. Nature 1969;223:29-35.
- Palmer MA, Piper PJ, Vane JR. The release of rabbit aorta contracting substance (RCS) from chopped lung and its antagonism by anti-inflammatory drugs. British journal of pharmacology 1970;40:581P-2P.
- [3] Hamberg M, Svensson J, Samuelsson B. Thromboxanes: a new group of biologically active compounds derived from prostaglandin endoperoxides.
 Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 1975;72:2994-8.
- [4] Bhagwat SS, Hamann PR, Still WC, Bunting S, Fitzpatrick FA. Synthesis and structure of the platelet aggregation factor thromboxane A2. Nature 1985;315:511-3.
- [5] Needleman P, Moncada S, Bunting S, Vane JR, Hamberg M, Samuelsson B.
 Identification of an enzyme in platelet microsomes which generates thromboxane
 A2 from prostaglandin endoperoxides. Nature 1976;261:558-60.
- [6] Sun FF, Chapman JP, McGuire JC. Metabolism of prostaglandin endoperoxide in animal tissues. Prostaglandins 1977;14:1055-74.
- [7] Shen RF, Tai HH. Monoclonal antibodies to thromboxane synthase from porcine lung. Production and application to development of a tandem immunoradiometric assay. The Journal of biological chemistry 1986;261:11585-91.
- [8] Lin X, Ramamurthy SK, Le Breton GC. Thromboxane A receptor-mediated cell proliferation, survival and gene expression in oligodendrocytes. Journal of neurochemistry 2005;93:257-68.

- [9] Morinelli TA, Zhang LM, Newman WH, Meier KE. Thromboxane A2/prostaglandin H2-stimulated mitogenesis of coronary artery smooth muscle cells involves activation of mitogen-activated protein kinase and S6 kinase. The Journal of biological chemistry 1994;269:5693-8.
- [10] Li X, Tai HH. Activation of thromboxane A(2) receptors induces orphan nuclear receptor Nurr1 expression and stimulates cell proliferation in human lung cancer cells. Carcinogenesis 2009;30:1606-13.
- [11] Nakahata N. Thromboxane A2: physiology/pathophysiology, cellular signal transduction and pharmacology. Pharmacology & therapeutics 2008;118:18-35.
- [12] Kinsella BT. Thromboxane A2 signalling in humans: a 'Tail' of two receptors. Biochemical Society transactions 2001;29:641-54.
- [13] Shenker A, Goldsmith P, Unson CG, Spiegel AM. The G protein coupled to the thromboxane A2 receptor in human platelets is a member of the novel Gq family. The Journal of biological chemistry 1991;266:9309-13.
- [14] Offermanns S, Laugwitz KL, Spicher K, Schultz G. G proteins of the G12 family are activated via thromboxane A2 and thrombin receptors in human platelets.
 Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 1994;91:504-8.
- [15] Ushikubi F, Nakamura K, Narumiya S. Functional reconstitution of platelet thromboxane A2 receptors with Gq and Gi2 in phospholipid vesicles. Molecular pharmacology 1994;46:808-16.

- [16] Muck S, Weber AA, Meyer-Kirchrath J, Schror K. The bovine thromboxane A2 receptor: molecular cloning, expression, and functional characterization. Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's archives of pharmacology 1998;357:10-6.
- [17] Vezza R, Habib A, FitzGerald GA. Differential signaling by the thromboxane receptor isoforms via the novel GTP-binding protein, Gh. The Journal of biological chemistry 1999;274:12774-9.
- Kozasa T, Jiang X, Hart MJ, Sternweis PM, Singer WD, Gilman AG, et al. p115
 RhoGEF, a GTPase activating protein for Galpha12 and Galpha13. Science
 1998;280:2109-11.
- [19] Wilson DP, Susnjar M, Kiss E, Sutherland C, Walsh MP. Thromboxane A2induced contraction of rat caudal arterial smooth muscle involves activation of Ca2+ entry and Ca2+ sensitization: Rho-associated kinase-mediated phosphorylation of MYPT1 at Thr-855, but not Thr-697. The Biochemical journal 2005;389:763-74.
- [20] Nie D, Guo Y, Yang D, Tang Y, Chen Y, Wang MT, et al. Thromboxane A2 receptors in prostate carcinoma: expression and its role in regulating cell motility via small GTPase Rho. Cancer research 2008;68:115-21.
- [21] Hirata T, Ushikubi F, Kakizuka A, Okuma M, Narumiya S. Two thromboxane A2 receptor isoforms in human platelets. Opposite coupling to adenylyl cyclase with different sensitivity to Arg60 to Leu mutation. The Journal of clinical investigation 1996;97:949-56.
- [22] Walsh M, Foley JF, Kinsella BT. Investigation of the role of the carboxylterminal tails of the alpha and beta isoforms of the human thromboxane A(2)

receptor (TP) in mediating receptor:effector coupling. Biochimica et biophysica acta 2000;1496:164-82.

- [23] Miyosawa K, Sasaki M, Ohkubo S, Nakahata N. Different pathways for activation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase through thromboxane A2 receptor isoforms. Biological & pharmaceutical bulletin 2006;29:719-24.
- [24] Miggin SM, Kinsella BT. Regulation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase cascades by alpha- and beta-isoforms of the human thromboxane A(2) receptor.
 Molecular pharmacology 2002;61:817-31.
- [25] Huang JS, Ramamurthy SK, Lin X, Le Breton GC. Cell signalling through thromboxane A2 receptors. Cellular signalling 2004;16:521-33.
- [26] Gao Y, Tang S, Zhou S, Ware JA. The thromboxane A2 receptor activates mitogen-activated protein kinase via protein kinase C-dependent Gi coupling and Src-dependent phosphorylation of the epidermal growth factor receptor. The Journal of pharmacology and experimental therapeutics 2001;296:426-33.
- [27] Yan W, Ding Y, Tai HH. 14-3-3zeta interacts with human thromboxane receptors and is involved in the agonist-induced activation of the extracellular-signalregulated kinase. Biochemical pharmacology 2006;71:624-33.
- [28] Honn KV, Meyer J. Thromboxanes and prostacyclin: positive and negative modulators of tumor growth. Biochemical and biophysical research communications 1981;102:1122-9.
- [29] Dassesse T, de Leval X, de Leval L, Pirotte B, Castronovo V, Waltregny D.Activation of the thromboxane A2 pathway in human prostate cancer correlates
with tumor Gleason score and pathologic stage. European urology 2006;50:1021-31; discussion 31.

- [30] Watkins G, Douglas-Jones A, Mansel RE, Jiang WG. Expression of thromboxane synthase, TBXAS1 and the thromboxane A2 receptor, TBXA2R, in human breast cancer. International seminars in surgical oncology : ISSO 2005;2:23.
- [31] Sakai H, Suzuki T, Takahashi Y, Ukai M, Tauchi K, Fujii T, et al. Upregulation of thromboxane synthase in human colorectal carcinoma and the cancer cell proliferation by thromboxane A2. FEBS letters 2006;580:3368-74.
- [32] Gustafsson A, Hansson E, Kressner U, Nordgren S, Andersson M, Lonnroth C, et al. Prostanoid receptor expression in colorectal cancer related to tumor stage, differentiation and progression. Acta Oncol 2007;46:1107-12.
- [33] Moussa O, Yordy JS, Abol-Enein H, Sinha D, Bissada NK, Halushka PV, et al. Prognostic and functional significance of thromboxane synthase gene overexpression in invasive bladder cancer. Cancer research 2005;65:11581-7.
- [34] Moussa O, Ashton AW, Fraig M, Garrett-Mayer E, Ghoneim MA, Halushka PV, et al. Novel role of thromboxane receptors beta isoform in bladder cancer pathogenesis. Cancer research 2008;68:4097-104.
- [35] McLemore TL, Hubbard WC, Litterst CL, Liu MC, Miller S, McMahon NA, et al. Profiles of prostaglandin biosynthesis in normal lung and tumor tissue from lung cancer patients. Cancer research 1988;48:3140-7.
- [36] Cathcart MC, Gately K, Cummins R, Kay E, O'Byrne KJ, Pidgeon GP.Examination of thromboxane synthase as a prognostic factor and therapeutic target in non-small cell lung cancer. Molecular cancer 2011;10:25.

- [37] Wei J, Yan W, Li X, Ding Y, Tai HH. Thromboxane receptor alpha mediates tumor growth and angiogenesis via induction of vascular endothelial growth factor expression in human lung cancer cells. Lung Cancer 2010;69:26-32.
- [38] Huang RY, Li MY, Hsin MK, Underwood MJ, Ma LT, Mok TS, et al. 4-Methylnitrosamino-1-3-pyridyl-1-butanone (NNK) promotes lung cancer cell survival by stimulating thromboxane A2 and its receptor. Oncogene 2011;30:106-16.
- [39] Schmidt NO, Ziu M, Cargioli T, Westphal M, Giese A, Black PM, et al. Inhibition of thromboxane synthase activity improves glioblastoma response to alkylation chemotherapy. Translational oncology 2010;3:43-9.
- [40] Moussa O, Riker JM, Klein J, Fraig M, Halushka PV, Watson DK. Inhibition of thromboxane synthase activity modulates bladder cancer cell responses to chemotherapeutic agents. Oncogene 2008;27:55-62.
- [41] Nie D, Che M, Zacharek A, Qiao Y, Li L, Li X, et al. Differential expression of thromboxane synthase in prostate carcinoma: role in tumor cell motility. The American journal of pathology 2004;164:429-39.
- [42] Kelly P, Stemmle LN, Madden JF, Fields TA, Daaka Y, Casey PJ. A role for the G12 family of heterotrimeric G proteins in prostate cancer invasion. The Journal of biological chemistry 2006;281:26483-90.
- [43] Turner EC, Kavanagh DJ, Mulvaney EP, McLean C, Wikstrom K, Reid HM, et al. Identification of an interaction between the TPalpha and TPbeta isoforms of the human thromboxane A2 receptor with protein kinase C-related kinase (PRK)

1: implications for prostate cancer. The Journal of biological chemistry 2011;286:15440-57.

- [44] McDonough W, Tran N, Giese A, Norman SA, Berens ME. Altered gene expression in human astrocytoma cells selected for migration: I. Thromboxane synthase. Journal of neuropathology and experimental neurology 1998;57:449-55.
- [45] Giese A, Hagel C, Kim EL, Zapf S, Djawaheri J, Berens ME, et al. Thromboxane synthase regulates the migratory phenotype of human glioma cells. Neurooncology 1999;1:3-13.
- [46] Nie D, Lamberti M, Zacharek A, Li L, Szekeres K, Tang K, et al. Thromboxane
 A(2) regulation of endothelial cell migration, angiogenesis, and tumor metastasis.
 Biochemical and biophysical research communications 2000;267:245-51.
- [47] Yoshimoto A, Kasahara K, Kawashima A, Fujimura M, Nakao S.
 Characterization of the prostaglandin biosynthetic pathway in non-small cell lung cancer: a comparison with small cell lung cancer and correlation with angiogenesis, angiogenic factors and metastases. Oncology reports 2005;13:1049-57.
- [48] Pradono P, Tazawa R, Maemondo M, Tanaka M, Usui K, Saijo Y, et al. Gene transfer of thromboxane A(2) synthase and prostaglandin I(2) synthase antithetically altered tumor angiogenesis and tumor growth. Cancer research 2002;62:63-6.
- [49] Daniel TO, Liu H, Morrow JD, Crews BC, Marnett LJ. Thromboxane A2 is a mediator of cyclooxygenase-2-dependent endothelial migration and angiogenesis. Cancer research 1999;59:4574-7.

- [50] de Leval X, Dassesse T, Dogne JM, Waltregny D, Bellahcene A, Benoit V, et al.
 Evaluation of original dual thromboxane A2 modulators as antiangiogenic agents.
 The Journal of pharmacology and experimental therapeutics 2006;318:1057-67.
- [51] Valastyan S, Weinberg RA. Tumor metastasis: molecular insights and evolving paradigms. Cell 2011;147:275-92.
- [52] Guo W, Giancotti FG. Integrin signalling during tumour progression. Nature reviews Molecular cell biology 2004;5:816-26.
- [53] Takeichi M. Cadherins in cancer: implications for invasion and metastasis.Current opinion in cell biology 1993;5:806-11.
- [54] Perl AK, Wilgenbus P, Dahl U, Semb H, Christofori G. A causal role for Ecadherin in the transition from adenoma to carcinoma. Nature 1998;392:190-3.
- [55] Thiery JP. Epithelial-mesenchymal transitions in tumour progression. Nature reviews Cancer 2002;2:442-54.
- [56] Friedl P, Alexander S. Cancer invasion and the microenvironment: plasticity and reciprocity. Cell 2011;147:992-1009.
- [57] Kessenbrock K, Plaks V, Werb Z. Matrix metalloproteinases: regulators of the tumor microenvironment. Cell 2010;141:52-67.
- [58] Joyce JA, Pollard JW. Microenvironmental regulation of metastasis. Nature reviews Cancer 2009;9:239-52.
- [59] DeNardo DG, Barreto JB, Andreu P, Vasquez L, Tawfik D, Kolhatkar N, et al. CD4(+) T cells regulate pulmonary metastasis of mammary carcinomas by enhancing protumor properties of macrophages. Cancer cell 2009;16:91-102.

- [60] Gocheva V, Wang HW, Gadea BB, Shree T, Hunter KE, Garfall AL, et al. IL-4 induces cathepsin protease activity in tumor-associated macrophages to promote cancer growth and invasion. Genes & development 2010;24:241-55.
- [61] Roderfeld M, Rath T, Lammert F, Dierkes C, Graf J, Roeb E. Innovative immunohistochemistry identifies MMP-9 expressing macrophages at the invasive front of murine HCC. World journal of hepatology 2010;2:175-9.
- [62] Roy R, Yang J, Moses MA. Matrix metalloproteinases as novel biomarkers and potential therapeutic targets in human cancer. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology 2009;27:5287-97.
- [63] Byun JH, Lee MA, Roh SY, Shim BY, Hong SH, Ko YH, et al. Association between cyclooxygenase-2 and matrix metalloproteinase-2 expression in nonsmall cell lung cancer. Japanese journal of clinical oncology 2006;36:263-8.
- [64] Ishizaki T, Katsumata K, Tsuchida A, Wada T, Mori Y, Hisada M, et al. Etodolac, a selective cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor, inhibits liver metastasis of colorectal cancer cells via the suppression of MMP-9 activity. International journal of molecular medicine 2006;17:357-62.
- [65] Larkins TL, Nowell M, Singh S, Sanford GL. Inhibition of cyclooxygenase-2 decreases breast cancer cell motility, invasion and matrix metalloproteinase expression. BMC cancer 2006;6:181.
- [66] Brinckerhoff CE, Rutter JL, Benbow U. Interstitial collagenases as markers of tumor progression. Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research 2000;6:4823-30.

- [67] Li M, Xiao T, Zhang Y, Feng L, Lin D, Liu Y, et al. Prognostic significance of matrix metalloproteinase-1 levels in peripheral plasma and tumour tissues of lung cancer patients. Lung Cancer 2010;69:341-7.
- [68] Lim BJ, Jung SS, Choi SY, Lee CS. Expression of metastasis-associated molecules in non-small cell lung cancer and their prognostic significance. Molecular medicine reports 2010;3:43-9.
- [69] Boire A, Covic L, Agarwal A, Jacques S, Sherifi S, Kuliopulos A. PAR1 is a matrix metalloprotease-1 receptor that promotes invasion and tumorigenesis of breast cancer cells. Cell 2005;120:303-13.
- [70] Blackburn JS, Liu I, Coon CI, Brinckerhoff CE. A matrix metalloproteinase-1/protease activated receptor-1 signaling axis promotes melanoma invasion and metastasis. Oncogene 2009;28:4237-48.
- [71] Brooks PC, Stromblad S, Sanders LC, von Schalscha TL, Aimes RT, Stetler-Stevenson WG, et al. Localization of matrix metalloproteinase MMP-2 to the surface of invasive cells by interaction with integrin alpha v beta 3. Cell 1996;85:683-93.
- [72] Olson MW, Gervasi DC, Mobashery S, Fridman R. Kinetic analysis of the binding of human matrix metalloproteinase-2 and -9 to tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase (TIMP)-1 and TIMP-2. The Journal of biological chemistry 1997;272:29975-83.
- [73] Yan C, Boyd DD. Regulation of matrix metalloproteinase gene expression.Journal of cellular physiology 2007;211:19-26.

- [74] Vincenti MP, Brinckerhoff CE. Signal transduction and cell-type specific regulation of matrix metalloproteinase gene expression: can MMPs be good for you? Journal of cellular physiology 2007;213:355-64.
- [75] Pillinger MH, Marjanovic N, Kim SY, Scher JU, Izmirly P, Tolani S, et al. Matrix metalloproteinase secretion by gastric epithelial cells is regulated by E prostaglandins and MAPKs. The Journal of biological chemistry 2005;280:9973-9.
- [76] Ridley SH, Sarsfield SJ, Lee JC, Bigg HF, Cawston TE, Taylor DJ, et al. Actions of IL-1 are selectively controlled by p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase: regulation of prostaglandin H synthase-2, metalloproteinases, and IL-6 at different levels. J Immunol 1997;158:3165-73.
- [77] Han Z, Boyle DL, Aupperle KR, Bennett B, Manning AM, Firestein GS. Jun Nterminal kinase in rheumatoid arthritis. The Journal of pharmacology and experimental therapeutics 1999;291:124-30.
- [78] Kajanne R, Miettinen P, Mehlem A, Leivonen SK, Birrer M, Foschi M, et al. EGF-R regulates MMP function in fibroblasts through MAPK and AP-1 pathways. Journal of cellular physiology 2007;212:489-97.
- [79] Reunanen N, Li SP, Ahonen M, Foschi M, Han J, Kahari VM. Activation of p38 alpha MAPK enhances collagenase-1 (matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)-1) and stromelysin-1 (MMP-3) expression by mRNA stabilization. The Journal of biological chemistry 2002;277:32360-8.
- [80] McCawley LJ, Li S, Wattenberg EV, Hudson LG. Sustained activation of the mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway. A mechanism underlying receptor

tyrosine kinase specificity for matrix metalloproteinase-9 induction and cell migration. The Journal of biological chemistry 1999;274:4347-53.

- [81] Woo CH, Lim JH, Kim JH. Lipopolysaccharide induces matrix metalloproteinase-9 expression via a mitochondrial reactive oxygen species-p38 kinase-activator protein-1 pathway in Raw 264.7 cells. J Immunol 2004;173:6973-80.
- [82] Mengshol JA, Vincenti MP, Coon CI, Barchowsky A, Brinckerhoff CE. Interleukin-1 induction of collagenase 3 (matrix metalloproteinase 13) gene expression in chondrocytes requires p38, c-Jun N-terminal kinase, and nuclear factor kappaB: differential regulation of collagenase 1 and collagenase 3. Arthritis and rheumatism 2000;43:801-11.
- [83] Brasier AR, Lu M, Hai T, Lu Y, Boldogh I. NF-kappa B-inducible BCL-3 expression is an autoregulatory loop controlling nuclear p50/NF-kappa B1 residence. The Journal of biological chemistry 2001;276:32080-93.
- [84] Elliott SF, Coon CI, Hays E, Stadheim TA, Vincenti MP. Bcl-3 is an interleukin-1-responsive gene in chondrocytes and synovial fibroblasts that activates transcription of the matrix metalloproteinase 1 gene. Arthritis and rheumatism 2002;46:3230-9.
- [85] Bond M, Fabunmi RP, Baker AH, Newby AC. Synergistic upregulation of metalloproteinase-9 by growth factors and inflammatory cytokines: an absolute requirement for transcription factor NF-kappa B. FEBS letters 1998;435:29-34.
- [86] Selvamurugan N, Kwok S, Partridge NC. Smad3 interacts with JunB and Cbfa1/Runx2 for transforming growth factor-beta1-stimulated collagenase-3

133

expression in human breast cancer cells. The Journal of biological chemistry 2004;279:27764-73.

- [87] Catterall JB, Carrere S, Koshy PJ, Degnan BA, Shingleton WD, Brinckerhoff CE, et al. Synergistic induction of matrix metalloproteinase 1 by interleukin-1alpha and oncostatin M in human chondrocytes involves signal transducer and activator of transcription and activator protein 1 transcription factors via a novel mechanism. Arthritis and rheumatism 2001;44:2296-310.
- [88] Ahmad R, Qureshi HY, El Mabrouk M, Sylvester J, Ahmad M, Zafarullah M. Inhibition of interleukin 1-induced matrix metalloproteinase 13 expression in human chondrocytes by interferon gamma. Annals of the rheumatic diseases 2007;66:782-9.
- [89] Ramachandran R, Hollenberg MD. Proteinases and signalling: pathophysiological and therapeutic implications via PARs and more. British journal of pharmacology 2008;153 Suppl 1:S263-82.
- [90] Vergnolle N. Protease-activated receptors and inflammatory hyperalgesia.Memorias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz 2005;100 Suppl 1:173-6.
- [91] Ossovskaya VS, Bunnett NW. Protease-activated receptors: contribution to physiology and disease. Physiological reviews 2004;84:579-621.
- [92] Even-Ram S, Uziely B, Cohen P, Grisaru-Granovsky S, Maoz M, Ginzburg Y, et al. Thrombin receptor overexpression in malignant and physiological invasion processes. Nature medicine 1998;4:909-14.
- [93] Nguyen N, Kuliopulos A, Graham RA, Covic L. Tumor-derived Cyr61(CCN1) promotes stromal matrix metalloproteinase-1 production and protease-activated

receptor 1-dependent migration of breast cancer cells. Cancer research 2006;66:2658-65.

- [94] Agarwal A, Covic L, Sevigny LM, Kaneider NC, Lazarides K, Azabdaftari G, et al. Targeting a metalloprotease-PAR1 signaling system with cell-penetrating pepducins inhibits angiogenesis, ascites, and progression of ovarian cancer.
 Molecular cancer therapeutics 2008;7:2746-57.
- [95] Wang FQ, Fisher J, Fishman DA. MMP-1-PAR1 axis mediates LPA-induced epithelial ovarian cancer (EOC) invasion. Gynecologic oncology 2011;120:247-55.
- [96] Morris DR, Ding Y, Ricks TK, Gullapalli A, Wolfe BL, Trejo J. Proteaseactivated receptor-2 is essential for factor VIIa and Xa-induced signaling, migration, and invasion of breast cancer cells. Cancer research 2006;66:307-14.
- [97] Hjortoe GM, Petersen LC, Albrektsen T, Sorensen BB, Norby PL, Mandal SK, et al. Tissue factor-factor VIIa-specific up-regulation of IL-8 expression in MDA-MB-231 cells is mediated by PAR-2 and results in increased cell migration. Blood 2004;103:3029-37.
- [98] Versteeg HH, Schaffner F, Kerver M, Ellies LG, Andrade-Gordon P, Mueller BM, et al. Protease-activated receptor (PAR) 2, but not PAR1, signaling promotes the development of mammary adenocarcinoma in polyoma middle T mice. Cancer research 2008;68:7219-27.
- [99] Caruso R, Pallone F, Fina D, Gioia V, Peluso I, Caprioli F, et al. Proteaseactivated receptor-2 activation in gastric cancer cells promotes epidermal growth

factor receptor trans-activation and proliferation. The American journal of pathology 2006;169:268-78.

- [100] Darmoul D, Gratio V, Devaud H, Laburthe M. Protease-activated receptor 2 in colon cancer: trypsin-induced MAPK phosphorylation and cell proliferation are mediated by epidermal growth factor receptor transactivation. The Journal of biological chemistry 2004;279:20927-34.
- [101] Ge L, Shenoy SK, Lefkowitz RJ, DeFea K. Constitutive protease-activated receptor-2-mediated migration of MDA MB-231 breast cancer cells requires both beta-arrestin-1 and -2. The Journal of biological chemistry 2004;279:55419-24.
- [102] Liu Y, Mueller BM. Protease-activated receptor-2 regulates vascular endothelial growth factor expression in MDA-MB-231 cells via MAPK pathways.
 Biochemical and biophysical research communications 2006;344:1263-70.
- [103] Albrektsen T, Sorensen BB, Hjorto GM, Fleckner J, Rao LV, Petersen LC.
 Transcriptional program induced by factor VIIa-tissue factor, PAR1 and PAR2 in
 MDA-MB-231 cells. Journal of thrombosis and haemostasis : JTH 2007;5:1588-97.
- [104] Ikeda O, Egami H, Ishiko T, Ishikawa S, Kamohara H, Hidaka H, et al. Signal of proteinase-activated receptor-2 contributes to highly malignant potential of human pancreatic cancer by up-regulation of interleukin-8 release. International journal of oncology 2006;28:939-46.
- [105] Chen D, Carpenter A, Abrahams J, Chambers RC, Lechler RI, McVey JH, et al. Protease-activated receptor 1 activation is necessary for monocyte

chemoattractant protein 1-dependent leukocyte recruitment in vivo. The Journal of experimental medicine 2008;205:1739-46.

- [106] Wang H, Yi T, Zheng Y, He S. Induction of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 release from A549 cells by agonists of protease-activated receptor-1 and -2.
 European journal of cell biology 2007;86:233-42.
- [107] Cochran BH, Reffel AC, Stiles CD. Molecular cloning of gene sequences regulated by platelet-derived growth factor. Cell 1983;33:939-47.
- [108] Rollins BJ, Morrison ED, Stiles CD. Cloning and expression of JE, a gene inducible by platelet-derived growth factor and whose product has cytokine-like properties. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 1988;85:3738-42.
- [109] Matsushima K, Larsen CG, DuBois GC, Oppenheim JJ. Purification and characterization of a novel monocyte chemotactic and activating factor produced by a human myelomonocytic cell line. The Journal of experimental medicine 1989;169:1485-90.
- [110] Yoshimura T, Robinson EA, Tanaka S, Appella E, Kuratsu J, Leonard EJ.
 Purification and amino acid analysis of two human glioma-derived monocyte chemoattractants. The Journal of experimental medicine 1989;169:1449-59.
- [111] Kuratsu J, Leonard EJ, Yoshimura T. Production and characterization of human glioma cell-derived monocyte chemotactic factor. Journal of the National Cancer Institute 1989;81:347-51.
- [112] Furutani Y, Nomura H, Notake M, Oyamada Y, Fukui T, Yamada M, et al.Cloning and sequencing of the cDNA for human monocyte chemotactic and

activating factor (MCAF). Biochemical and biophysical research communications 1989;159:249-55.

- [113] Robinson EA, Yoshimura T, Leonard EJ, Tanaka S, Griffin PR, Shabanowitz J, et al. Complete amino acid sequence of a human monocyte chemoattractant, a putative mediator of cellular immune reactions. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 1989;86:1850-4.
- [114] Jiang Y, Valente AJ, Williamson MJ, Zhang L, Graves DT. Post-translational modification of a monocyte-specific chemoattractant synthesized by glioma, osteosarcoma, and vascular smooth muscle cells. The Journal of biological chemistry 1990;265:18318-21.
- [115] Ping D, Boekhoudt G, Boss JM. trans-Retinoic acid blocks platelet-derived growth factor-BB-induced expression of the murine monocyte chemoattractant-1 gene by blocking the assembly of a promoter proximal Sp1 binding site. The Journal of biological chemistry 1999;274:31909-16.
- [116] Ping D, Jones PL, Boss JM. TNF regulates the in vivo occupancy of both distal and proximal regulatory regions of the MCP-1/JE gene. Immunity 1996;4:455-69.
- [117] Zhou ZH, Chaturvedi P, Han YL, Aras S, Li YS, Kolattukudy PE, et al. IFNgamma induction of the human monocyte chemoattractant protein (hMCP)-1 gene in astrocytoma cells: functional interaction between an IFN-gamma-activated site and a GC-rich element. J Immunol 1998;160:3908-16.
- [118] Lim JH, Um HJ, Park JW, Lee IK, Kwon TK. Interleukin-1beta promotes the expression of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 in human aorta smooth muscle

cells via multiple signaling pathways. Experimental & molecular medicine 2009;41:757-64.

- [119] Martin T, Cardarelli PM, Parry GC, Felts KA, Cobb RR. Cytokine induction of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 gene expression in human endothelial cells depends on the cooperative action of NF-kappa B and AP-1. European journal of immunology 1997;27:1091-7.
- [120] Sutcliffe AM, Clarke DL, Bradbury DA, Corbett LM, Patel JA, Knox AJ.
 Transcriptional regulation of monocyte chemotactic protein-1 release by endothelin-1 in human airway smooth muscle cells involves NF-kappaB and AP-1. British journal of pharmacology 2009;157:436-50.
- [121] Deshmane SL, Kremlev S, Amini S, Sawaya BE. Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1): an overview. Journal of interferon & cytokine research : the official journal of the International Society for Interferon and Cytokine Research 2009;29:313-26.
- [122] Lu B, Rutledge BJ, Gu L, Fiorillo J, Lukacs NW, Kunkel SL, et al. Abnormalities in monocyte recruitment and cytokine expression in monocyte chemoattractant protein 1-deficient mice. The Journal of experimental medicine 1998;187:601-8.
- [123] Lu Y, Cai Z, Galson DL, Xiao G, Liu Y, George DE, et al. Monocyte chemotactic protein-1 (MCP-1) acts as a paracrine and autocrine factor for prostate cancer growth and invasion. The Prostate 2006;66:1311-8.
- [124] Loberg RD, Ying C, Craig M, Day LL, Sargent E, Neeley C, et al. Targeting CCL2 with systemic delivery of neutralizing antibodies induces prostate cancer tumor regression in vivo. Cancer research 2007;67:9417-24.

- [125] Lu Y, Cai Z, Xiao G, Liu Y, Keller ET, Yao Z, et al. CCR2 expression correlates with prostate cancer progression. Journal of cellular biochemistry 2007;101:676-85.
- [126] Youngs SJ, Ali SA, Taub DD, Rees RC. Chemokines induce migrational responses in human breast carcinoma cell lines. International journal of cancer Journal international du cancer 1997;71:257-66.
- [127] Liang Y, Bollen AW, Gupta N. CC chemokine receptor-2A is frequently overexpressed in glioblastoma. Journal of neuro-oncology 2008;86:153-63.
- [128] Vande Broek I, Asosingh K, Vanderkerken K, Straetmans N, Van Camp B, Van Riet I. Chemokine receptor CCR2 is expressed by human multiple myeloma cells and mediates migration to bone marrow stromal cell-produced monocyte chemotactic proteins MCP-1, -2 and -3. British journal of cancer 2003;88:855-62.
- [129] Moreaux J, Hose D, Kassambara A, Reme T, Moine P, Requirand G, et al.Osteoclast-gene expression profiling reveals osteoclast-derived CCR2chemokines promoting myeloma cell migration. Blood 2011;117:1280-90.
- [130] Rollins BJ, Sunday ME. Suppression of tumor formation in vivo by expression of the JE gene in malignant cells. Molecular and cellular biology 1991;11:3125-31.
- [131] Walter S, Bottazzi B, Govoni D, Colotta F, Mantovani A. Macrophage infiltration and growth of sarcoma clones expressing different amounts of monocyte chemotactic protein/JE. International journal of cancer Journal international du cancer 1991;49:431-5.
- [132] Conti I, Rollins BJ. CCL2 (monocyte chemoattractant protein-1) and cancer. Seminars in cancer biology 2004;14:149-54.

- [133] Ueno T, Toi M, Saji H, Muta M, Bando H, Kuroi K, et al. Significance of macrophage chemoattractant protein-1 in macrophage recruitment, angiogenesis, and survival in human breast cancer. Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research 2000;6:3282-9.
- [134] Qian BZ, Li J, Zhang H, Kitamura T, Zhang J, Campion LR, et al. CCL2 recruits inflammatory monocytes to facilitate breast-tumour metastasis. Nature 2011;475:222-5.
- [135] Lu X, Kang Y. Chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 2 engages CCR2+ stromal cells of monocytic origin to promote breast cancer metastasis to lung and bone. The Journal of biological chemistry 2009;284:29087-96.
- [136] Loberg RD, Ying C, Craig M, Yan L, Snyder LA, Pienta KJ. CCL2 as an Important Mediator of Prostate Cancer Growth <I>In Vivo</I> through the Regulation of Macrophage Infiltration. Neoplasia 2007;9:556-62.
- [137] Ferrero E, Fabbri M, Poggi A, Galati G, Bernasconi S, Zocchi MR. Tumor-driven matrix invasion by infiltrating lymphocytes: involvement of the alpha1 integrin Idomain. European journal of immunology 1998;28:2530-6.
- [138] Arenberg DA, Keane MP, DiGiovine B, Kunkel SL, Strom SR, Burdick MD, et al. Macrophage infiltration in human non-small-cell lung cancer: the role of CC chemokines. Cancer immunology, immunotherapy : CII 2000;49:63-70.
- [139] Zhang J, Chen L, Xiao M, Wang C, Qin Z. FSP1+ fibroblasts promote skin carcinogenesis by maintaining MCP-1-mediated macrophage infiltration and chronic inflammation. The American journal of pathology 2011;178:382-90.

- [140] Fujimoto H, Sangai T, Ishii G, Ikehara A, Nagashima T, Miyazaki M, et al. Stromal MCP-1 in mammary tumors induces tumor-associated macrophage infiltration and contributes to tumor progression. International journal of cancer Journal international du cancer 2009;125:1276-84.
- [141] Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. The hallmarks of cancer. Cell 2000;100:57-70.
- [142] Coussens LM, Werb Z. Inflammation and cancer. Nature 2002;420:860-7.
- [143] Murdoch C, Giannoudis A, Lewis CE. Mechanisms regulating the recruitment of macrophages into hypoxic areas of tumors and other ischemic tissues. Blood 2004;104:2224-34.
- [144] van der Bij GJ, Oosterling SJ, Meijer S, Beelen RH, van Egmond M. The role of macrophages in tumor development. Cellular oncology : the official journal of the International Society for Cellular Oncology 2005;27:203-13.
- [145] Koide N, Nishio A, Sato T, Sugiyama A, Miyagawa S. Significance of macrophage chemoattractant protein-1 expression and macrophage infiltration in squamous cell carcinoma of the esophagus. The American journal of gastroenterology 2004;99:1667-74.
- [146] Hanada T, Nakagawa M, Emoto A, Nomura T, Nasu N, Nomura Y. Prognostic value of tumor-associated macrophage count in human bladder cancer.
 International journal of urology : official journal of the Japanese Urological Association 2000;7:263-9.
- [147] Ohno S, Ohno Y, Suzuki N, Kamei T, Koike K, Inagawa H, et al. Correlation of histological localization of tumor-associated macrophages with

clinicopathological features in endometrial cancer. Anticancer research 2004;24:3335-42.

- [148] Lissbrant IF, Stattin P, Wikstrom P, Damber JE, Egevad L, Bergh A. Tumor associated macrophages in human prostate cancer: relation to clinicopathological variables and survival. International journal of oncology 2000;17:445-51.
- [149] Leek RD, Landers RJ, Harris AL, Lewis CE. Necrosis correlates with high vascular density and focal macrophage infiltration in invasive carcinoma of the breast. British journal of cancer 1999;79:991-5.
- [150] Chen JJ, Yao PL, Yuan A, Hong TM, Shun CT, Kuo ML, et al. Up-regulation of tumor interleukin-8 expression by infiltrating macrophages: its correlation with tumor angiogenesis and patient survival in non-small cell lung cancer. Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research 2003;9:729-37.
- [151] Toomey D, Smyth G, Condron C, Kelly J, Byrne AM, Kay E, et al. Infiltrating immune cells, but not tumour cells, express FasL in non-small cell lung cancer: No association with prognosis identified in 3-year follow-up. International journal of cancer Journal international du cancer 2003;103:408-12.
- [152] Welsh TJ, Green RH, Richardson D, Waller DA, O'Byrne KJ, Bradding P. Macrophage and mast-cell invasion of tumor cell islets confers a marked survival advantage in non-small-cell lung cancer. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology 2005;23:8959-67.
- [153] Lewis CE, Pollard JW. Distinct role of macrophages in different tumor microenvironments. Cancer research 2006;66:605-12.

- [154] Sica A, Schioppa T, Mantovani A, Allavena P. Tumour-associated macrophages are a distinct M2 polarised population promoting tumour progression: potential targets of anti-cancer therapy. Eur J Cancer 2006;42:717-27.
- [155] Ohri CM, Shikotra A, Green RH, Waller DA, Bradding P. Macrophages within NSCLC tumour islets are predominantly of a cytotoxic M1 phenotype associated with extended survival. The European respiratory journal : official journal of the European Society for Clinical Respiratory Physiology 2009;33:118-26.
- [156] Zeni E, Mazzetti L, Miotto D, Lo Cascio N, Maestrelli P, Querzoli P, et al. Macrophage expression of interleukin-10 is a prognostic factor in nonsmall cell lung cancer. The European respiratory journal : official journal of the European Society for Clinical Respiratory Physiology 2007;30:627-32.
- [157] Mantovani A, Sica A, Locati M. Macrophage polarization comes of age. Immunity 2005;23:344-6.
- [158] Vasiljeva O, Papazoglou A, Kruger A, Brodoefel H, Korovin M, Deussing J, et al. Tumor cell-derived and macrophage-derived cathepsin B promotes progression and lung metastasis of mammary cancer. Cancer research 2006;66:5242-50.
- [159] Wang R, Zhang J, Chen S, Lu M, Luo X, Yao S, et al. Tumor-associated macrophages provide a suitable microenvironment for non-small lung cancer invasion and progression. Lung Cancer 2011;74:188-96.
- [160] Hildenbrand R, Wolf G, Bohme B, Bleyl U, Steinborn A. Urokinase plasminogen activator receptor (CD87) expression of tumor-associated macrophages in ductal carcinoma in situ, breast cancer, and resident macrophages of normal breast tissue. Journal of leukocyte biology 1999;66:40-9.

- [161] Yang L, Huang J, Ren X, Gorska AE, Chytil A, Aakre M, et al. Abrogation of TGF beta signaling in mammary carcinomas recruits Gr-1+CD11b+ myeloid cells that promote metastasis. Cancer cell 2008;13:23-35.
- [162] Lin CY, Lin CJ, Chen KH, Wu JC, Huang SH, Wang SM. Macrophage activation increases the invasive properties of hepatoma cells by destabilization of the adherens junction. FEBS letters 2006;580:3042-50.
- [163] Chen JJ, Lin YC, Yao PL, Yuan A, Chen HY, Shun CT, et al. Tumor-associated macrophages: the double-edged sword in cancer progression. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology 2005;23:953-64.
- [164] Hagemann T, Robinson SC, Schulz M, Trumper L, Balkwill FR, Binder C. Enhanced invasiveness of breast cancer cell lines upon co-cultivation with macrophages is due to TNF-alpha dependent up-regulation of matrix metalloproteases. Carcinogenesis 2004;25:1543-9.
- [165] Wyckoff J, Wang W, Lin EY, Wang Y, Pixley F, Stanley ER, et al. A paracrine loop between tumor cells and macrophages is required for tumor cell migration in mammary tumors. Cancer research 2004;64:7022-9.
- [166] Wei J, Yan W, Li X, Chang WC, Tai HH. Activation of thromboxane receptor alpha induces expression of cyclooxygenase-2 through multiple signaling pathways in A549 human lung adenocarcinoma cells. Biochemical pharmacology 2007;74:787-800.
- [167] Pfaffl MW. A new mathematical model for relative quantification in real-time RT-PCR. Nucleic acids research 2001;29:e45.

- [168] Gu L, Hagiwara S, Fan Q, Tanimoto M, Kobata M, Yamashita M, et al. Role of receptor for advanced glycation end-products and signalling events in advanced glycation end-product-induced monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 expression in differentiated mouse podocytes. Nephrology, dialysis, transplantation : official publication of the European Dialysis and Transplant Association - European Renal Association 2006;21:299-313.
- [169] Vleminckx K, Vakaet L, Jr., Mareel M, Fiers W, van Roy F. Genetic manipulation of E-cadherin expression by epithelial tumor cells reveals an invasion suppressor role. Cell 1991;66:107-19.
- [170] Benbow U, Rutter JL, Lowrey CH, Brinckerhoff CE. Transcriptional repression of the human collagenase-1 (MMP-1) gene in MDA231 breast cancer cells by alltrans-retinoic acid requires distal regions of the promoter. British journal of cancer 1999;79:221-8.
- [171] Raymond L, Eck S, Mollmark J, Hays E, Tomek I, Kantor S, et al. Interleukin-1 beta induction of matrix metalloproteinase-1 transcription in chondrocytes requires ERK-dependent activation of CCAAT enhancer-binding protein-beta. Journal of cellular physiology 2006;207:683-8.
- [172] Armstrong DA, Phelps LN, Vincenti MP. CCAAT enhancer binding protein-beta regulates matrix metalloproteinase-1 expression in interleukin-1beta-stimulated A549 lung carcinoma cells. Molecular cancer research : MCR 2009;7:1517-24.
- [173] Nakajima T, Kinoshita S, Sasagawa T, Sasaki K, Naruto M, Kishimoto T, et al. Phosphorylation at threonine-235 by a ras-dependent mitogen-activated protein

kinase cascade is essential for transcription factor NF-IL6. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 1993;90:2207-11.

- [174] Deryugina EI, Quigley JP. Matrix metalloproteinases and tumor metastasis.Cancer metastasis reviews 2006;25:9-34.
- [175] Thompson WL, Van Eldik LJ. Inflammatory cytokines stimulate the chemokines CCL2/MCP-1 and CCL7/MCP-3 through NFkB and MAPK dependent pathways in rat astrocytes [corrected]. Brain research 2009;1287:47-57.
- [176] Miller DM, Polansky DA, Thomas SD, Ray R, Campbell VW, Sanchez J, et al. Mithramycin selectively inhibits transcription of G-C containing DNA. The American journal of the medical sciences 1987;294:388-94.
- [177] Hung JJ, Wu CY, Liao PC, Chang WC. Hsp90alpha recruited by Sp1 is important for transcription of 12(S)-lipoxygenase in A431 cells. The Journal of biological chemistry 2005;280:36283-92.
- [178] Kurihara Y, Hatori M, Ando Y, Ito D, Toyoshima T, Tanaka M, et al. Inhibition of cyclooxygenase-2 suppresses the invasiveness of oral squamous cell carcinoma cell lines via down-regulation of matrix metalloproteinase-2 production and activation. Clinical & experimental metastasis 2009;26:425-32.
- [179] Honn KV. Inhibition of tumor cell metastasis by modulation of the vascular prostacyclin/thromboxane A2 system. Clinical & experimental metastasis 1983;1:103-14.
- [180] Li X, Wei J, Tai HH. Activation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase by 12hydroxyheptadecatrienoic acid in prostate cancer PC3 cells. Archives of biochemistry and biophysics 2007;467:20-30.

- [181] Uchiyama K, Saito M, Sasaki M, Obara Y, Higashiyama S, Nakahata N. Thromboxane A2 receptor-mediated epidermal growth factor receptor transactivation: involvement of PKC-delta and PKC-epsilon in the shedding of epidermal growth factor receptor ligands. European journal of pharmaceutical sciences : official journal of the European Federation for Pharmaceutical Sciences 2009;38:504-11.
- [182] Tower GB, Coon CC, Benbow U, Vincenti MP, Brinckerhoff CE. Erk 1/2 differentially regulates the expression from the 1G/2G single nucleotide polymorphism in the MMP-1 promoter in melanoma cells. Biochimica et biophysica acta 2002;1586:265-74.
- [183] Kheradmand F, Rishi K, Werb Z. Signaling through the EGF receptor controls lung morphogenesis in part by regulating MT1-MMP-mediated activation of gelatinase A/MMP2. Journal of cell science 2002;115:839-48.
- [184] Litherland GJ, Elias MS, Hui W, Macdonald CD, Catterall JB, Barter MJ, et al. Protein kinase C isoforms zeta and iota mediate collagenase expression and cartilage destruction via STAT3- and ERK-dependent c-fos induction. The Journal of biological chemistry 2010;285:22414-25.
- [185] Bayat H, Xu S, Pimentel D, Cohen RA, Jiang B. Activation of thromboxane receptor upregulates interleukin (IL)-1beta-induced VCAM-1 expression through JNK signaling. Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology 2008;28:127-34.
- [186] Ishizuka T, Kawakami M, Hidaka T, Matsuki Y, Takamizawa M, Suzuki K, et al. Stimulation with thromboxane A2 (TXA2) receptor agonist enhances ICAM-1,

VCAM-1 or ELAM-1 expression by human vascular endothelial cells. Clinical and experimental immunology 1998;112:464-70.

- [187] Leppa S, Saffrich R, Ansorge W, Bohmann D. Differential regulation of c-Jun by ERK and JNK during PC12 cell differentiation. The EMBO journal 1998;17:4404-13.
- [188] Hu E, Mueller E, Oliviero S, Papaioannou VE, Johnson R, Spiegelman BM. Targeted disruption of the c-fos gene demonstrates c-fos-dependent and independent pathways for gene expression stimulated by growth factors or oncogenes. The EMBO journal 1994;13:3094-103.
- [189] Cortez DM, Feldman MD, Mummidi S, Valente AJ, Steffensen B, Vincenti M, et al. IL-17 stimulates MMP-1 expression in primary human cardiac fibroblasts via p38 MAPK- and ERK1/2-dependent C/EBP-beta, NF-kappaB, and AP-1 activation. American journal of physiology Heart and circulatory physiology 2007;293:H3356-65.
- [190] Rutter JL, Benbow U, Coon CI, Brinckerhoff CE. Cell-type specific regulation of human interstitial collagenase-1 gene expression by interleukin-1 beta (IL-1 beta) in human fibroblasts and BC-8701 breast cancer cells. Journal of cellular biochemistry 1997;66:322-36.
- [191] Wyatt CA, Geoghegan JC, Brinckerhoff CE. Short hairpin RNA-mediated inhibition of matrix metalloproteinase-1 in MDA-231 cells: effects on matrix destruction and tumor growth. Cancer research 2005;65:11101-8.
- [192] Blackburn JS, Rhodes CH, Coon CI, Brinckerhoff CE. RNA interference inhibition of matrix metalloproteinase-1 prevents melanoma metastasis by

149

reducing tumor collagenase activity and angiogenesis. Cancer research 2007;67:10849-58.

- [193] Redondo-Munoz J, Jose Terol M, Garcia-Marco JA, Garcia-Pardo A. Matrix metalloproteinase-9 is up-regulated by CCL21/CCR7 interaction via extracellular signal-regulated kinase-1/2 signaling and is involved in CCL21-driven B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia cell invasion and migration. Blood 2008;111:383-6.
- [194] Redondo-Munoz J, Ugarte-Berzal E, Terol MJ, Van den Steen PE, Hernandez del Cerro M, Roderfeld M, et al. Matrix metalloproteinase-9 promotes chronic lymphocytic leukemia b cell survival through its hemopexin domain. Cancer cell 2010;17:160-72.
- [195] Gupta GP, Nguyen DX, Chiang AC, Bos PD, Kim JY, Nadal C, et al. Mediators of vascular remodelling co-opted for sequential steps in lung metastasis. Nature 2007;446:765-70.
- [196] Sternlicht MD, Bissell MJ, Werb Z. The matrix metalloproteinase stromelysin-1 acts as a natural mammary tumor promoter. Oncogene 2000;19:1102-13.
- [197] Nikkola J, Vihinen P, Vlaykova T, Hahka-Kemppinen M, Kahari VM, Pyrhonen S. High expression levels of collagenase-1 and stromelysin-1 correlate with shorter disease-free survival in human metastatic melanoma. International journal of cancer Journal international du cancer 2002;97:432-8.
- [198] Frederick LA, Matthews JA, Jamieson L, Justilien V, Thompson EA, Radisky DC, et al. Matrix metalloproteinase-10 is a critical effector of protein kinase Ciota-Par6alpha-mediated lung cancer. Oncogene 2008;27:4841-53.

- [199] Steenport M, Khan KM, Du B, Barnhard SE, Dannenberg AJ, Falcone DJ. Matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)-1 and MMP-3 induce macrophage MMP-9: evidence for the role of TNF-alpha and cyclooxygenase-2. J Immunol 2009;183:8119-27.
- [200] Blackburn JS, Brinckerhoff CE. Matrix metalloproteinase-1 and thrombin differentially activate gene expression in endothelial cells via PAR-1 and promote angiogenesis. The American journal of pathology 2008;173:1736-46.
- [201] Asokananthan N, Graham PT, Fink J, Knight DA, Bakker AJ, McWilliam AS, et al. Activation of protease-activated receptor (PAR)-1, PAR-2, and PAR-4 stimulates IL-6, IL-8, and prostaglandin E2 release from human respiratory epithelial cells. J Immunol 2002;168:3577-85.
- [202] Schaffner F, Ruf W. Tissue factor and PAR2 signaling in the tumor microenvironment. Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology 2009;29:1999-2004.
- [203] Qi W, Chen X, Polhill TS, Sumual S, Twigg S, Gilbert RE, et al. TGF-beta1 induces IL-8 and MCP-1 through a connective tissue growth factor-independent pathway. American journal of physiology Renal physiology 2006;290:F703-9.
- [204] Ebnet K, Simon MM, Shaw S. Regulation of chemokine gene expression in human endothelial cells by proinflammatory cytokines and Borrelia burgdorferi. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1996;797:107-17.
- [205] Strande JL, Phillips SA. Thrombin increases inflammatory cytokine and angiogenic growth factor secretion in human adipose cells in vitro. J Inflamm (Lond) 2009;6:4.

- [206] Deng X, Mercer PF, Scotton CJ, Gilchrist A, Chambers RC. Thrombin induces fibroblast CCL2/JE production and release via coupling of PAR1 to Galphaq and cooperation between ERK1/2 and Rho kinase signaling pathways. Molecular biology of the cell 2008;19:2520-33.
- [207] Nesi A, Fragai M. Substrate specificities of matrix metalloproteinase 1 in PAR-1 exodomain proteolysis. Chembiochem : a European journal of chemical biology 2007;8:1367-9.
- [208] Ishizuka T, Sawada S, Sugama K, Kurita A. Thromboxane A2 (TXA2) receptor blockade suppresses monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1) expression by stimulated vascular endothelial cells. Clinical and experimental immunology 2000;120:71-8.
- [209] Keelan JA, Sato TA, Gupta DK, Marvin KW, Mitchell MD. Prostanoid stimulation of cytokine production in an amnion-derived cell line: evidence of a feed-forward mechanism with implications for term and preterm labor. Journal of the Society for Gynecologic Investigation 2000;7:37-44.
- [210] Ishitsuka Y, Moriuchi H, Isohama Y, Tokunaga H, Hatamoto K, Kurita S, et al. A selective thromboxane A2 (TXA2) synthase inhibitor, ozagrel, attenuates lung injury and decreases monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 and interleukin-8 mRNA expression in oleic acid-induced lung injury in guinea pigs. Journal of pharmacological sciences 2009;111:211-5.
- [211] Coursey TG, Chen PW, Niederkorn JY. Abrogating TNF-alpha expression prevents bystander destruction of normal tissues during iNOS-mediated elimination of intraocular tumors. Cancer research 2011;71:2445-54.

- [212] Joshi T, Ganesan LP, Cheney C, Ostrowski MC, Muthusamy N, Byrd JC, et al. The PtdIns 3-kinase/Akt pathway regulates macrophage-mediated ADCC against B cell lymphoma. PloS one 2009;4:e4208.
- [213] Lin CW, Shen SC, Ko CH, Lin HY, Chen YC. Reciprocal activation of macrophages and breast carcinoma cells by nitric oxide and colony-stimulating factor-1. Carcinogenesis 2010;31:2039-48.
- [214] Yao Y, Tsirka SE. The C terminus of mouse monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 (MCP1) mediates MCP1 dimerization while blocking its chemotactic potency. The Journal of biological chemistry 2010;285:31509-16.
- [215] Heppner GH. Tumor heterogeneity. Cancer research 1984;44:2259-65.

VITA

XIULING LI

Place of Birth: Xingcheng, China

EDUCATION:

M.S. in Biochemistry & Molecular Biology	2004
West China School of Pharmacy, Sichuan University, Chengdu, China	
B.S. in Medicinal Chemistry	2001
West China School of Pharmacy, Sichuan University, Chengdu, China	

PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCES:

Graduate Research Assistant	August 2007 – Present	
Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Un	niversity of Kentucky, Lexington, KY	
Visiting Scholar	June 2005 – July 2007	
Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Un	niversity of Kentucky, Lexington, KY	
Junior Research Staff	June 2004 – May 2005	
Jindian Pharmaceutical Company, Chengdu	ı, China	
Graduate Research Assistant	June 2001 – May 2004	
West China School of Pharmacy, Sichuan U	Iniversity, Chengdu, China	

SCHOLASTIC HONORS:

- First place award for outstanding graduate research students, Sichuan University, 2003
- United Medical Education Award for outstanding undergraduates, Hong Kong, 2000

PUBLICATIONS:

- 1. **Xiuling Li** and Hsin-Hsiung Tai. Increased expression of matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) mediates thromboxane A₂-induced invasion in lung cancer cells. *Current cancer drug targets* 2012, in press.
- 2. Jingyan Wei, Weili Yan, **Xiuling Li**, Yunfei Ding and Hsin-Hsiung Tai. Thromboxane receptor alpha mediates tumor growth and angiogenesis via induction of vascular endothelial growth factor expression in human lung cancer cells. *Lung Cancer* 2010, 69(1):26-32.
- 3. **Xiuling Li** and Hsin-Hsiung Tai. Activation of thromboxane A₂ receptors induces orphan nuclear receptor Nurr1 expression and stimulates cell proliferation in human lung cancer cells. *Carcinogenesis* 2009, 30(9):1606-1613.
- 4. **Xiuling Li**, Jingyan Wei and Hsin-Hsiung Tai. Activation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase by 12-hydroxyheptadecatrienoic acid in prostate cancer PC3 cells. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics* 2007, 467(1):20-30.
- 5. Jingyan Wei, Weili Yan, **Xiuling Li**, Wen-Chang Chang and Hsin-Hsiung Tai. Activation of thromboxane receptor alpha induces expression of cyclooxygenase-2 through multiple signaling pathways in A549 human lung adenocarcinoma cells. *Biochemical Pharmacology* 2007, 74(5):787-800.
- 6. Xiuling Li, Rong Yu, Jiyu Yang and Rong Zeng. Improvement of high purity hemachrome preparation. *Journal of Sichuan University (Medical Science Edition)* 2004, 35(5):738.
- 7. Xiuling Li, Rong Yu and Ling He. Synthesis of metal hematoporphyrins and their activities as enzyme mimicry. *West China Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences* 2004, 19(5):342-344.
- 8. Rong Zeng, **Xiuling Li** and Rong Yu. Progress in studies on antitumor effects of snake venom. *Letters in biotechnology* 2002, 13 (6): 479-481.